UNDERNUTRITION AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS AMONG RURAL PRIMARY SCHOOL CHILDREN IN ZALA DISTRICT, SOUTHERN ETHIOPIA . A COMPARATIVE STUDY IN SCHOOLS WITH AND WITHOUT FEEDING PROGRAM .



BY ABRACHEW DATIKO (BSC)

A RESEARCH THESIS SUBMITTED TO JIMMA UNIVERSITY, INSTITUTE OF HEALTH, AND FACULTY OF PUBLIC HEALTH, DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION AND DIETETICS; IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR DEGREE OF MASTERS IN HUMAN NUTRITION.

AUGUST, 2020

JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

UNDERNUTRITION AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS AMONG RURAL PRIMARY SCHOOL CHILDREN IN ZALA DISTRICT, SOUTHERN ETHIOPIA . A COMPARATIVE STUDY IN SCHOOLS WITH AND WITHOUT FEEDING PROGRAM

•

By Abrachew Datiko (BSc)

Advisors

Meseret Tamrat (BSc, MSc, PH.D. fellow)

Nurezeman Gali (BSc, MSc)

August 2020

Jimma, Ethiopia

ABSTRACT

Background:-Malnutrition in school-age children have different health impacts that result in delayed maturation, deficiencies in muscular strength, low work capacity, reduced bone density later in life, and poor school performance. In developing countries, 52% and 34-62% of the school-age children are stunted and underweight. To mitigate this burden School feeding program was primarily designed to increase equity, access to education, enrollment, attendance, and nutritional status and health of school children.

Objective: This study was aimed to determine undernutrition and associated factors among rural primary school children in schools with and without a feeding program in Zala district, Southern, Ethiopia.

Method: - A school-based comparative cross-sectional study was conducted among 514 rural primary school children of 7-14 years old from March 8-18, 2020. A Stratified sampling technique was employed and simple random sampling was used to select the study participants from each stratum. Data were collected using a structured questionnaire and analyzed by a statistical package for social science version 22software. Both bivariate and multivariable logistic regression analyses were undergone.

Results and discussions: The overall prevalence of stunting, thinness, and underweight among school children in the study area was 26.1%, 14.2%, 16.5% respectively. A higher stunting, thinness, and underweight prevalence was observed among school children from non- feeding schools 31.1%, 17.5%, and 20.2% respectively than in schools with feeding programs 21%, 10.9%, and 12.6% respectively. There was a statistically significant difference in stunting [COR=1.69, 95%CI (1.14-2.53)/P=0.009)] and thinness [COR=1.74, 95%CI (1.05-2.88)/P=0.033)] among school children in feeding and non- feeding groups. Meal frequency per day, missed meal schedule, latrine availability, father's occupation, and deworming were found to be significantly associated with stunting among the school children, whereas the availability of hand washing facility and latrine were factors associated with thinness among school children.

Conclusion: - The findings suggest that the School feeding program can improve the nutritional status of school children.

Key Word:-School feeding, Zala district, school children, undernutrition

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I thank the Almighty God for giving me strength and wisdom to complete this research thesis.

My deepest gratitude goes to my advisors, Mrs. Meseret Tamrat and Mr. Nurezeman Gali for their unlimited support and their constructive comment throughout the preparation of my paper.

I would like to thank Jimma University institute of health, faculty of public health, department of nutrition, and dietetics for giving me this opportunity to do my paper. Finally, I would like to thank data collectors, supervisors, and study participants.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents

ABSTRACTI
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS II
TABLE OF CONTENTSIII
LIST OF TABLESVI
LIST OF FIGUREVII
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER ONE
1. Introduction1
1.1 Background1
1.2 Statement of the problem
1.3 Significance of the study
CHAPTER TWO
2. Literature review
2.1 History of the school feeding program
2.2 Prevalence of undernutrition among primary school children
2.3 Factors associated with undernutrition among school children
2.3.1. Socio-demographic factors associated with child undernutrition
2.3.2 Dietary factors associated with undernutrition in children
2.3.3 Water and sanitation factors associated with undernutrition in children
2.3.4. Morbidity factors associated with nutritional status of school-age children10
2.4 Conceptual framework
CHAPTER THREE
3 Objectives and hypothesis
3.1 General Objective
Specific objectives
3.2 Hypothesis12
CHAPTER FOUR
4 Methods and material

4.1	Study area and period	. 13
4.2	Study design	. 14
4.3	Source Population	. 14
Study	population	. 14
4.3.1	Study unit	. 14
4.4 I	nclusion and Exclusion criteria	. 14
4.4.1	Inclusion criteria	. 14
4.4.2	Exclusion criteria	. 14
4.5 S	Sample size determination and sampling technique	. 14
4.5.1	Sample size determination	. 14
4.5.2	Sampling technique	. 15
4.6 S	Study variables	. 17
4.6.1	Dependent variable	. 17
4.6.2	Independent variables	. 17
4.6.3	Data collection tools and techniques	. 17
4.6.4	Anthropometric measurements	. 17
4.6.5	Data collectors	. 18
4.7 I	Data quality control	. 18
4.8 0	Operational Definition	. 18
4.9 I	Data analysis and presentation	. 19
Ethical c	consideration	.20
4.10 I	Dissemination plan	. 20
CHAPT	ER FIVE	.21
5. RE	SULTS	.21
5.1 Sc	ocio-demographic characteristics	.21
5.2. W	Vater hygiene and Sanitation Characteristics	.22
5.3. N	Iorbidity related characteristics	.24
5.4. D	Dietary intake related characteristics of the respondents	.24
5.6 N	Nutritional status of school children in Zala district	. 25
5.7. F	actors associated with stunting in school children in the Zala district in 2020	. 27
5.8 Fa	actors associated with thinness in school children in the Zala district in 2020	. 28
5.9 Fa	actors associated with Underweight in school children in Zala district in 2020	. 29

CHAPTER SIX
6. DISCUSSION
6.1. Stunting
6.2. Thinness
6.3. Underweight
Limitation of this study
CHAPTER SEVEN
7. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
7.1. Conclusion
7.2. Recommendations
Policymakers
Researchers
Health office
REFERENCES
Annex 1 Assent or Consent form46
Annex 2 . የፌቃደኝነት መግስጫ ቅፅ48
ANNEXES .3 English Version Questionnaire
ANNEXES.4የአማርኛመጠይቆት
DECLARATION

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:-Sample size calculation for this study in Zala district in 202015
Table 2:- Socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the respondents in Zala district,
2020. (N=514)
Table 3:- Water and sanitation characteristics of the school children in Zala district, southern
Ethiopia, 2020(N=514)
Table 4:-Morbidity related characteristics of school children in Zala district, southern Ethiopia,
2020(N=514)
Table 5:-Dietary intake related characteristics of the respondents from schools with and without
feeding program of Zalla district, southern Ethiopia, 202025
Table 6. Multivariable logistic regression for stunting among school-age children 7-14 years old
in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020(N=514)
Table 7. Multivariable logistic regression for thinness among school-age children 7-14 years old
in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020 (N=514)
Table 8 . Multivariable logistic regression for underweight among school-age children 7-14
years old in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020 (N=514)

LIST OF FIGURE

Figure 1: Conceptual frame work constructed after different literature review ((20),(35),(36),
(51), (63)
Figure 2: Schematic representation of the sampling procedure
Figure 3 Overall prevalence of undernutrition in school children in Zala district in 2020
Figure 4. The Prevalence of undernutrition among school children with and without school
feeding program in Zala district 2020

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AOR	Adjusted Odds Ratio
BMI	Body Mass Index
CI	Confidence Interval
CSA	Central Statistical Agency
EDHS	Ethiopian Demographic Health Survey
FANTA	Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
GSFP	Government School Feeding Program
HAZ	Height for Age Z-Score
MUAC	Mid Upper Arm Circumference
NSFP	None School Feeding Program
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
SD	Standard Division
SFP	School Feeding Program
SHN	School Health and Nutrition
SNNPR	Southern Nation Nationalities and Peoples Region
USA	United State Of America
WAZ	Weight for Age Z-Score
WFP	World Food Program
WHO	World Health Organization

CHAPTER ONE

1. Introduction

1.1 Background.

The school-age child is a child who is old enough to go to school. Or the age of a person when attending lower-level schools is customary. The period during a person's life when one is legally required to attend school. According to the world demographic report of 2020, about 16.75% of the world population and 25.43% of the African population are school-age children from 5-14 years old(1).

Nutritional status is the condition in which the health of an individual is influenced by nutrient intake and utilization in the body. Malnutrition in school-aged children has different health impacts that result in delayed maturation, deficiencies in muscular strength, low work capacity, reduced bone density later in life, and poor school performance. (2).

School-age children have not received as much attention from health providers/planners as that of under-fives globally and also in Ethiopia. In a world workshop at Kentucky, United State of America (USA) in 1994, it had been agreed that there was insufficient information on the health status of school-age children from developing countries, particularly at the community level. Under-five years old children are targeted for priority care under various maternal and child, but these age groups 5-15 year remain neglected(3).

School health services provide a perfect platform to detect health problems early and treat them. At least 170 million children are suffering from stunting, this means that they were likely to enroll in class later and had a poor performance in the academic area. They were also predicted to earn an average of 20 percent less when they become adults(4).

School feeding is the provision of food in the form of breakfast or lunch to school children. This can be classified into two main groups based on their modalities such as in-school feeding, where children are fed in school; and take-home rations, where families are given food if their children attend school. (5).

Throughout the developing world, different stack holders are supporting the programs which are organizations with national governments, bilateral arrangements, and NGOs. The primary assumption of SFPs is that education and learning depend upon good nutrition. Although this assertion has been debated, with many asserting that it's unlikely that school feeding improves

nutritional status since the critical time for nutrition is during pregnancy and the first two years of life has an impact in the entire life for the future. These programs operate in conjunction with other health and nutrition initiatives to extend their success and impact. (6)

School feeding programs and other school-based nutrition and health programs can motivate parents to enroll their children in school and to see that they attend regularly; programs effectively reduce absenteeism and dropouts. Alleviating this hunger in school children helps them to perform better in school (7).

The objective of school feeding was to increase equity, access to education, enrollment, and attendance. Additionally, it was expected to help students to be able to concentrate on their education and achieve better results, the program had a diverse array of designs, implementation arrangements, and management structures. Thus way almost all school feeding programs target primary school students(8).

According to the world food program (WFP) report estimates that at least 368 million children worldwide receive school meals, annually(9). Currently, more than 850,000 students in Ethiopia benefit from school feeding. Also, more than 125,000 girls benefit from a school feeding program initiative aimed at narrowing gender disparities (10).

1.2 Statement of the problem

School-age is a dynamic period of growth and development as children of this age undergo (rapid physical, mental and emotional development). Their social interaction also broadens out of their family, which poses a further risk through reduced nutritional care and support. Like that of under-five children, school-age children are the foremost vulnerable group of the population and need special attention including their nutrition and other health issues(11).

Globally, more than 200 million school-age children were stunted and underweight and if there is no action taken, the number will grow to nearly one billion by 2020 (12). The global prevalence of malnutrition among school-age children (5-14 years old) in terms of stunting, was approximately 28% (171 million children), wherein developing country particularly in Eastern Africa suffering a higher rate of 45% (13). Childhood malnutrition in terms of Stunting is one of the most serious and still one of the challenging public health problems in the world. It is largely invisible in many countries but affects 149 million children worldwide (14).

In developing countries, 52% and 34-62% of the school-age children were stunted and underweight, respectively(15). Different studies in different regions of Ethiopia showed that the prevalence of stunting was different which ranges from 8.9%(16)- 57%(17) among school children. Undernutrition, in school-age children, was reported in the forms of underweight (7.2% to 59.7%) in different parts of Ethiopia(18). Different studies from different areas in south nation nationalities and people's regional state of Ethiopia showed that the prevalence of stunting was different which ranges from 25.6- 41.9% and thinness 14% and underweight 8-19% among school children,(20,21).

Undernourishment has different Social and Economic Impacts in Ethiopia such as high child mortality28%, high school repetitions16%, reduces workforce by 8%, and also interims of health costs 1,831 million Ethiopian Birr per year were lost, Students who were stunted as children will have reduced cognitive capacity and are therefore 3.9% more likely to repeat grades in school because of this Ethiopia lost 93 million Birr. Total losses related to undernutrition are estimated at 55.5 billion Ethiopian Birr, for the year 2009. Those losses are equivalent to 16.5% of GDP of that year(21).

Children are most susceptible to undernutrition because of their low dietary intake, less access to food, inequitable distribution of food within households, improper food storage and preparation, dietary taboos, and infections with pathogens(15). Child undernutrition is often mitigated through nutritional information campaigns, broader access to maternal and child health care practices, and availing affordable, diverse, and nutrient-rich food (22).

In Ethiopia there were different efforts made to achieve universal access to basic education, many more children now have the opportunity to go to school, and hence, more children can be reached by the variety system than ever before. From the attitude of the health sector, a school health nutrition (SHN) strategy would enable the health and nutrition status to be improved for an enormous proportion of Ethiopia's population, promoting healthy attitudes, knowledge, and behavior's throughout their lifetime(23).

The Federal Government of Ethiopia has been working to reduce undernutrition significantly through public education and providing nutritional supplements and financial support to vulnerable families. However, the risk factors of undernutrition were diverse and could potentially change in areas and time. Because of this there was an insignificant change in malnutrition and it also becomes the public health problem today. Especially in my study area,

there was no nutrition-related study conducted before. Therefore, the present study aimed to determine undernutrition and associated factors among school-age children (7 - 14 years) in rural primary schools in Zala district southern Ethiopia to review the pitfalls and design effective strategies in the area.

1.3 Significance of the study

It generates evidence for different stakeholders such as health, education, agriculture, and other sectors to design effective school intervention programs for school children.

To show the gaps of undernutrition in school children in schools with and without a school feeding program in rural district areas of Zala in Ethiopia.

Moreover, the study will be used as baseline data for other researchers, different NGOs, and policymakers who had an interest in the area.

Identifies the children who need nutritional intervention to reduce future negative results in the health of children .

Used to identify factors associated with undernutrition in the area and to work upon the factors .

CHAPTER TWO

2. Literature review

The School feeding program was primarily designed to increase equity, access to education, enrollment, attendance, and nutritional status and health of school children but in the case of the chines school feeding program, there was a failure to meet the improvement in nutritional status in children. The absence of improvement in health outcomes following implementation of China's SFP suggests that the program is not meeting its goal of providing sufficiently micronutrient-rich meals that improve student nutrition and health, a significant share of students in rural China still suffers from malnutrition. Despite significant budgetary outlays between 2012 and 2015, China's SFP has not reduced the prevalence of malnutrition among school children(24).

According to Cochrane Review on SFPs, there were four various factors linked to program success, including clear nutritional deficiency in the target group, well-organized schools, localized implementation of SFP, and close supervision of food consumption even if those criteria's meet but the program do not improve the nutritional status of children (25). According to the Ghana school feeding program, it was hypothesized that the nutritional status of participants was better than that of non-participants. There was no such a big statistically significant difference within the nutritional status of participants and non-participants (26)..

2.1 History of the school feeding program

School lunch has evolved quite a bit over the last century. Serving a standard lunch to school children started, in both Europe and the United States, with private organizations that were interested in child welfare. It was not a nationwide event, but rather something that took place in individual states and cities over an extended period. At the turn of the 20th century, concern over malnutrition in children inspired philanthropic groups to provide balanced meals to students during their lunch hour. At that time, the midday meal was considered the main meal of the day. Philadelphia and Boston were the first major cities to actively attempt to implement a school lunch program in the United States. Philadelphia began by serving penny lunches at one school in 1894. In January 1910, home Economics classes in Boston began an experimental program serving an early lunch to elementary school children, three days every week. Finally, in 1946, the

school lunch program was made official when the 79th congress recognized its importance. President Harry S. Truman signed the National School Lunch Act, authored by Senator Richard B. Russell Jr (28).

The new Liberal government elected in Britain in 1906 passed various measures to try to deal with the health of children. They passed laws to ensure midwives were notified of each new-born baby, they introduced School Medical Examinations and, in 1906, they permitted schools to offer meals to their pupils(29).

Brazil pioneered School Feeding Programme (SFP) established in 1953 followed by India within the '80s. The cooperation between Brazil and India is an example of a partnership between two developing countries that focus their efforts on the global issue of fighting poverty. School Feeding Programmes (SFP) across the world have now been established and are seen as a social safety net for vulnerable sections of the population and as an educational intervention aimed at ensuring that children go to school and learning was improved by the elimination of hunger in the classroom(30). In 2018, around 16.4 million school children were benefitted from nutritious WFP meals and snacks. It also built the capacities of 65 governments, which led to improved national school feeding programs for another 39 million children (6).

2.2 **Prevalence of undernutrition among primary school children**

A cross-sectional study done in Sri Lanka showed that the prevalence of underweight and stunting were, 25.93% and 43.92%(31). A study in Sullia town, South India showed that the prevalence of thinness, underweight, and stunting were 26.5%, 19.2%, and 26.5% respectively (32). A study was done in Ibadan, South-West Nigeria the prevalence of stunting, underweight, and wasting among NFP boys pupils was 44.8%, 43.1%; 41.1%, and among girls was 38.8%, 43.5%, and 40.2%, respectively. For the pupils from FP schools, the prevalence of stunting, underweight, and wasting, respectively, among boys was 34.2 %, 27.7%; 30.7 %, and among girls was 27.7%; 27.19 %, and 5.55 %.(33).

According to a study done in Hohoe Municipality, Ghana the overall prevalence of underweight, stunting, thinness in the study population was 9.3, 8.5, 5.7 % respectively(34). According to a study done in Dhaka City, Bangladesh's total 60% of children were stunted and 84% were underweight(35). A Study done in Patna India shows that among children, boys are more malnourished (54.2%) than 45.7% (36). A study done in urban Meerut India states the

prevalence of wasting was 44.6%, Stunting was found in 43.8%(37). According to a study in Karimnagar, Telangana, among rural children 29.3% were underweight, 21.5% of children were stunted in rural (38).

According to a comparative study done in Urban and Rural Nigerian School Children, the overall prevalence rates of underweight, wasting, and stunting were 61.2%, 16.8%, and 27.6%, respectively. In the rural area there were 70.5%, 17.8% and 35.8%, while in the urban they were 52.2%, 15.9% and 19.8%, respectively(39). According to a study done in Nigeria, the school children were affected by underweight 18.2%, stunting 41.6%, thinness 20.0%. Across sectional study conducted in Malawi, the overall prevalence of stunting, underweight, and thinness was 34.9%, 36.9%, and 11.2%, respectively(40). According to a study in school feeding in Nkwanta south district -volta region of Ghana Prevalence of stunting 50.3% and thinness 19.4%(41). Study in Nairobi Kenya Among the children surveyed, 24.5% were stunted, 14.9% underweight and 9.7% were wasted(42). A study done in Egypt showed that the prevalence of stunting, underweight, and wasting was 34.2%, 3.4%, and 0.9%, respectively(43). A comparative crosssectional study in school feeding children done in Denkyembour district, eastern region, Ghana showed that the prevalence of stunting among children in schools on the SFP was 16.2% compared with 17.2% among children in schools that do not implement the SFP. The prevalence of thinness was two times higher (9.3%) among children in schools on the SFP than in children in schools that do not implement the SFP 4.6%(44).

A study conducted in Mekite woreda states that the prevalence of stunting, wasting among feeding and non-feeding children was 58.5%, 48.3%, and 27.8%,37.6% respectively(45). A study conducted in Sidama zone south Ethiopia showed that the common nutritional prevalence in the area, were stunting 25.6%, based on the BMI for age status, 14% of studied children had a wasting while 19% of studied children had underweight(19). A study done in Gobu Seyo District prevalence of stunting and underweight was 17.0% and 18.8% respectively(46). A study conducted in schools with a school feeding program in Addis Ababa showed that 26% stunted,16% underweight, in participated children(47).

Across sectional study done in Chencha district south, Ethiopia showed that the overall prevalence of malnutrition, stunting, and underweight among SAC was 12.3%, 8.9%, and 4.2% respectively(48). A study done in Addis Ababa showed that prevalence of undernourished 19.6% stunted, 15.9% underweight(49). A study in Asella Luther Child Development Project Oromiya

showed that 47%, 34%, and 19% undernutrition, stunting, and wasting respectively(50). A study conducted in Wolayta zone Humbo district showed that the prevalence of stunting was 57%(17). A study in Dangla north Ethiopia the prevalence of stunting and thinness was 24.8 % and 7.1 %, respectively(51).

According to a study done in Addis Ababa the overall prevalence of children is 10.2% were wasted, the prevalence of underweight was 18.4%, 1.7% Stunting was 19.1%, the prevalence of malnutrition among children with feeding program is 7.6% wasting,16.2% stunting,10.2% underweight and for those without feeding program 12.8% wasting 22.2% stunting 26.5% underweight respectively(52). A comparative cross-sectional study was employed among children of school feeding and not feeding in Addis Ababa results in the prevalence of wasting among the feeding group was found to be 7.1% and for the non-feeding, it was 10%, 5.6% were underweight from the feeding group and 10.5% from the non-feeding group, the prevalence of stunting for the feeding group was found to be 23.6% and for the non-feeding, it was 16.5%(53). A cross-sectional study conducted in Gonder town among school children states that the prevalence of stunting, wasting, and underweight were 27%,50%,34.8% respectively(54). Across sectional study done in Arbaminch states that the prevalence of stunting and thinness was 41.9% and 8.0% respectively(20).

2.3 Factors associated with undernutrition among school children

2.3.1. Socio-demographic factors associated with child undernutrition

In a study done in India Mothers' educational level, low economic status, and family size were significantly associated factors with the nutritional status of the child(55). A study conducted in Sullia town, South India showed that Boys had a higher prevalence of malnutrition than girls. (32). A study was done in Hohoe Municipality, Ghana showed that malnutrition was highly significant in children whose parents were formal sector employees, farmers, unemployed, artisans, and petty traders respectively(34). Children whose mothers are illiterate are 1.83 times more stunted than those children whose mothers are the literate educational status of the mother, working status of mother (non-working and low socioeconomic status were significantly associated with stunting (56). According to a study done in Bangladesh, the odds of stunting were significantly high in school dropout children, children of illiterate parents, and children whose

mothers and fathers are graduate, children whose mothers and fathers were lower education and illiterate were more malnourished(36). A study conducted in Urban and Rural Nigerian School Children by place of a resident was significantly associated with stunting, wasting and underweight meaning living in rural is protective of malnutrition(39). According to the study gender of household head, household income, weekly food expenditure, and age of the kid were significantly associated with underweight. household income is Significantly associated with stunting, weekly food expenditure, sex of the child, age of the kid, (57). According to a study in Rural Area Of North Karnataka Region the higher the level of the mother's education, the lower the level of child's underweight was observed(58).

A study done in Egypt stated that age and maternal education were highly associated with children's nutritional status especially underweight(59). A study done in Egypt Increasing age were associated factors for stunting(43). In a study done in the Beni-Suef governorate, Egypt identified age more than 10 years, mother education, father education, and family size were factors associated with undernutrition (60). A study was done in Denkyembour district, eastern region, Ghana showed that Sub-district, sex, age of the pupil, area of residence, and community type were significantly associated with stunting (44). A study in Nigeria states that Undernutrition was more prevalent in children aged 12 years (64).

A study was done in Sidama zone south Ethiopia states older age group increased the odds of being stunted, children whose mothers have completed primary education were less likely to be stunted than children whose mothers do not have formal education, having a large family size, and children whose mothers completed primary education are less likely to be underweight(19). A study done in the GobuSeyo district showed that a predictor of stunting was fathers' occupation. Sex and age of the respondents (46). A Study in Chencha showed that children originating from rural kebeles and born from less educated mothers, housewives, or farmers were factors associated with undernutrition (48). According to a study was done in Addis Ababa being male, higher birth order (>2), larger family size (6–8), were significantly associated with undernutrition(57). A study in Wolayta zone Humbo district declares that sex, Age groups 10–12, big family size were factors significantly associated with stunting(17). Male gender, factors associated with thinness were being male, and having more than five family members were significantly associated with thinness(51). A study done in Arbaminch states stunting was

significantly associated with the age group of 12–14 years old, sex, children living in households with medium wealth tertiles (20).

2.3.2 Dietary factors associated with undernutrition in children

According to a study was done in Hohoe Municipality, Ghana children who consumed only two meals per day were more likely to be underweight, stunted, and thinness as compared to those who had at least three meals daily(34). A study conducted in Bangladesh showed that children who had meal frequency 1-2 times were also associated with increased odds of stunting(35). According to a study in Malawi children having lower household dietary diversity scores were more likely to be underweight(40). A study in Egypt reduced poultry consumption, and escaping breakfast were associated factors for stunting(43). A study was done in Sidama zone south Ethiopia states inadequate intake of carbohydrate, were independent predictors of wasting(19). A study was done in Addis Ababa state low meal frequency (\leq 3 times) in a day before the survey was significantly associated with undernutrition(49). A study in Dangila north Ethiopia states thinness was 63% less common among children who had a dietary diversity score of <4 food groups(20).

2.3.3 Water and sanitation factors associated with undernutrition in children

A study done in Bangladesh showed that the odds of stunting were higher among children who did not drink boiled water, also, the likelihood of being stunted was significantly higher among children who did not take bath regularly, used temporary latrine (35). A study done in Addis Ababa state mud floor house was significantly associated with undernutrition (49). A study conducted in the Wolayta zone Humbo district states open field disposal of wastes was a factor significantly associated with stunting(17). Study in Dangila north Ethiopia states unavailability of the latrine, and poor hand washing practice were independent predictors of stunting(51)

2.3.4. Morbidity factors associated with nutritional status of school-age children

A study done by Sidama zone south Ethiopia states having Trichuris Trichina infection is significantly associated with stunting(19). A study in Dangila north Ethiopia states children who developed an illness in the last two weeks had 2.9 times more chance to be thinner than those who do not have (51). A study done in Kenya indicates that the Incidence of diarrhea, colds/coughs increased the risk of stunting and underweight(42).

2.4 Conceptual framework





CHAPTER THREE

3 Objectives and hypothesis

3.1 General Objective

To assess the prevalence of undernutrition and associated factors among rural primary school children in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia in 2020.

Specific objectives

To determine the prevalence of undernutrition among rural primary school children in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020.

To compare the prevalence of undernutrition among rural primary school children in schools with and without feeding programs in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020.

To identify factors associated with undernutrition among rural primary school children attending schools in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia in 2020.

3.2 Hypothesis

 $H_{A:}$ There was a difference in the nutritional status of children in schools with and without feeding program

CHAPTER FOUR

4 Methods and material

4.1 Study area and period

The study was conducted in the Zala district, which was located 485 km south of Addis Ababa and 278 km from Hawassa, the capital city of Ethiopia and Southern Nations Nationalities and Peoples Region (SNNPR) respectively. Zala was one of the seven districts of the Gofa Zone. The district has 35 kebeles. (34- rural and 1-urban kebeles). According to the central statistics agency (CSA), the total population was estimated to be 100,969 and school-age children (7-14years) were 15, 003 among which 7615 were males and7388 were females.

Concerning health facilities distribution, the district had 34 health posts, 5 government health centers, 8 private clinics, and 1 rural drug vendor. Regarding school distribution, there were 33-primary schools, 4- high schools, and 1- preparatory school. Out of the total 33 primary schools in the district, only nine were implemented school feeding programs. The school feeding program was started in 2009e.c in the district. According to the feeding program protocol, a 150gram meal prepared from a bean, maize, wheat, iodized salt, and oil in the form of lunch was provided per child from Monday to Friday.

The major crops cultivated in the district were maize and teff. Regarding the common staple diet in the district was (Kita, and possess in the local language). The annual average temperature was 33-degree celsius. And there was no irrigation system in the area. The district agro-ecological zone was divided into kola 98% and weyna dega 2%. Malaria, diarrheal disease, typhoid fever were common health problems in the district (64). The study was conducted from March 8 to March 18/2020.

4.2 Study design

A school-based comparative cross-sectional study was employed.

4.3 Source Population

All school children studying in rural primary schools with and without SFP in the Zala district.

Study population

All school children studying in selected rural primary schools with and without SFP in the Zala district.

4.3.1 Study unit

Individual student

4.4 Inclusion and Exclusion criteria

4.4.1 Inclusion criteria

Residents of the district for, more than six months and Age 7 to 14 years

4.4.2 Exclusion criteria

Those who are sick and absent during data collection time, school children with chest, lower and upper extremity deformity

4.5 Sample size determination and sampling technique

4.5.1 Sample size determination

The sample size required for this study was calculated by using Epi info software version 7.1.2.0 using double population prevalence of stunting among children with feeding and without feeding program and considering the following variables and assumptions:- the power of 80%, CI 95%, 5% margin of error, 5% non-response rate and 1:1 allocation of children from schools with feeding to non-feeding and end up with the final sample size of 514 (table 1).

Table 1:-Sample size calculation for this study in Zala district in 2020

Variables	P1	P2	CI, and		Total	Reference
			power	NRR	sample	
Stunting prevalence	27%(non-	16.2%(fee	95%,80%	5%	514	(56,54)
	feeding	ding				
	group)	group)				
Habit of missing meal	64.3%	35.7%	95%,80%	5%	114	
schedule						(20)
Stunting	Prevalence =42	2 %	95% CI	5 %	393	

So by taking the largest sample size, the final sample size for this study was 514 rural primary school children and 257 from each group.

4.5.2 Sampling technique

First, all the primary schools in the district were stratified into two strata (primary school with SFP and NSFP) based on the school feeding program implementation status. Then a total of ten schools (Three schools from schools with SFP and seven schools from NSFP schools) were selected using a simple random sampling method. Then probability proportionate to size (PPS) allocation was used to allocate the calculated sample size to selected schools in each stratum. Again the allocated sample for each school was proportionally allocated for each grade level based on the number of students. Finally, the study participants were selected using a simple random sampling method using school rosters as a sampling frame (figure 2).



Figure 2: Schematic representation of the sampling procedure

4.6 Study variables

4.6.1 Dependent variable

Undernutrition (stunting, thinness, underweight)

4.6.2 Independent variables

Socio-Demographic Factors:- Age, Sex, Religion, Household wealth index, Ethnicity, Grade level, Family size, Paternal educational status, maternal educational status, Occupation of the father, Occupation of the mother, Childbirth order

Illness/infections: - History of Tuberculosis, Intestinal parasite, Diarrhea, Malaria

Dietary factors: - Missed meal schedule, meal frequency per day

Water and sanitation factors:-Waste disposal system, Latrine availability at home, Source of drinking water, Hand washing habit before a meal, Hand washing habit after toilet use, presence of hand washing facility, fruit washing habit before eating

4.6.3 Data collection tools and techniques

Face to face interview pre-tested structured questionnaire adapted from EDHS, and other published pieces of literature were employed to collect data on socio-demographic characteristics, morbidity factors, dietary factors, water, and sanitation factors.

4.6.4 Anthropometric measurements

The measurement of height was taken using a stadiometer with an attached measuring tape and a horizontal headboard that could be brought into contact with the uppermost point on the top. The children's height was measured barefoot or in thin socks. With weight distributed evenly on both feet, heels together, and the head positioned against the wall of the stadiometer, so that the line of vision is perpendicular to the body (Frankfurt position). The arms hanging freely to the sides, and the head, shoulder blade, buttocks, and heels are in contact with the wall of the stadiometer. The children were asked to inhale deeply and to maintain a fully erect position. The moveable headboard was brought on to the topmost point on the head with sufficient pressure to compress the hairs. The height was measured in meters and recorded to the nearest 0.1 cm.

Weight measurement was taken using a well-calibrated portable digital scale (Seca, Germany) to weigh the children. The weighing scale was standardized with the help of known 1 kg object

weight and calibrated to zero reading before taking the weight of the child. This calibration was done after each child's measurements. The weighing scale was placed on a flat surface and the weight was measured with little clothing and bare feet. And recorded to the nearest 0.1 kg. Data collection techniques:-The data were collected from ten primary schools. This study was used a direct method of nutritional assessment among which anthropometric method and Interview methods were used.

4.6.5 Data collectors

In the data collection process, fifteen trained diploma nurses and five BSc health officers who were speaking the local language have participated as data collectors and supervisors respectively.

4.7 Data quality control

Pre-testing of the questionnaire was made to ensure the quality of data. The pre-test was performed on 5% (25) of sample size students in one of the unselected school before actual data collection. After pre-tested, clarifications and corrections were done on the questionnaire accordingly. And the English version questionnaire was translated into Amharic by the language expert and then back to English to maintain its consistency. During data collection, data collectors were taken two separate height and weight measurements for an individual and the average value was reported. Investigators and supervisors were checked the collected data every day for completeness and consistency throughout the data collection period.

A one-day-training was given to data collectors and supervisors on the tool, interviewing skills, and the use of weight scale, to minimize inter- and intra-observer errors. Technical error of measurement (TEM) was computed during training. For this, a principal investigator took two weight and height measurements of ten children and let the data collectors take the measurements of all ten children twice. Then, the data was entered and computed by ENA SMART software and was confirmed acceptable.

4.8 **Operational Definition**

Nutritional status; -according to this study nutritional status includes (stunting, thinness, and underweight). Stunting: Children whose height-for-age was < -2SDS (65). Thinness: Children whose BMI-for-age was < -2SDS (65). Underweight: children whose weight- for- age was < -2SDS (65). Beneficiaries of the program: All students registered in schools with feeding

programs. (66). Non-beneficiary: students from school not undertaking feeding programs(66). According to this study child's missed meal, the schedule means those who missed at list one meal schedule meaning breakfast, lunch, or dinner per day. Household Wealth is the value of all-natural, physical, and financial assets owned by a household(67). According to this study household with wealth index >0.01 were considered as rich, those with wealth index <0 was classified as poor and those households with wealth index of 0.01 was classified as medium.

Waste disposal system: according to this study waste disposing includes both solid and liquid household wastes. Source of drinking water: this includes pipe, protected spring, unprotected spring water sources.

4.9 Data analysis and presentation

The questioner was checked for completeness and then data was entered into EPi-data software version 3.0 and exported to Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22 software for statistical analysis, then data was cleaned, outliers and missing values, and entirely recoded then ready for analysis. To analyze the anthropometric measurements WHO Anthro-plus version 1.0.4 software was used, and Children whose Height for Age z-score (HAZ), Weight for Age z-score (WAZ), and BMI for Age z-score (BAZ) blow-2SD scores were considered as undernourished. Then frequency tables and graphs were used to display the socio-demographic characteristics and the main findings of the responses given by the participants.

Both bivariate and multivariable logistics regression model analysis was undergone and Variables with p-value < 0.25 on bivariate analysis were entered into the multivariable model, to identify the factors that independently affect the nutritional status of the school children. Results were statistically significant when the p-value was < 0.05. The adjusted odds ratio together with the corresponding 95% confidence intervals was computed to see the strength of the association between the outcome and independent variables. The Hosmer–Lemeshow test for model fitness was performed and the multicollinearity effect was also checked using the variance inflation factor (VIF).

The wealth index was determined using the Principal Component Analysis and accordingly wealth index was ranked as tertiles in poor, medium, and rich (68).

Ethical consideration

An ethical clearance letter was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of Jimma University. Before data collection, a letter of support was obtained from the Nutrition and dietetics department and submitted to the selected school directors. Since study subjects were children below the age of 15 years written consent with assent form was given to the selected students take to home and signed by their family and bring back the next day and for those whose family signed the form was considered the study participants.

Also, the confidentiality of information was assured and the privacy of the study population was respected and kept as well. Moreover, to ensure confidentiality the name of respondents were not written in the data collection tool. Respondents and their parents were informed that they can refuse or discontinue participation at any time. Finally for those detected as malnourished are linked to health facilities to take treatment accordingly.

4.10 Dissemination plan

The result of this study will be disseminated to Jimma university institute of health, department of nutrition and dietetics, Zala district education and health office, and respective bodies, Moreover the result will be sent for publication in reputable Journals.

CHAPTER FIVE

5. RESULTS

5.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

In this study, a total of 514 school-age children participated with a response rate of 100%. Among the total participates 257(50%) children were from schools with the school feeding program and while the rest were from schools without a school feeding program. The mean age (\pm SD) of the children from the school feeding program was 10.7 \pm 2.36 whereas those from none school feeding programs were 10.6 \pm 2.36, respectively. Most of the children 210 (81.7%) from the school feeding group and the majority of children 226(87.9%) from the non-school feeding group were Gofa by ethnicity. More than three fourth 199 (77%) in both groups were protestant religious followers. Regarding household wealth status about 67(26.5%), 93(36.2%), and 96(37.4%) households among feeding groups were had rich, medium, and poor household wealth status respectively. (Table 2)

Table 2:- Socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the respondents in Zala district,

 2020. (N=514)

Variable	<u>category</u>	SFB(n=257)		NSFB(n=257)	
		frequency	Percent	frequency	percent
Age	7-10	119	46.3	124	48.2
	11-14	138	53.7	133	51.8
Sex	male	127	49.4	125	48.6
	female	130	50.6	132	51.4
Birth order	<=2	84	32.7	83	32.3
	>2	173	67.3	174	67.7
	Mother	37	14.4	44	17.1
Living with	Father	59	23	42	16.3
_	Both	125	48.6	95	37
	Sister\$ brother	36	14	76	29.6
Mothers	Farmer	41	16	45	17.5
occupation	Gove employee	31	12	29	11.3
_	Merchant	39	15	37	14.4
	House wife	146	57	146	56.8
	Muslim	15	5.8	15	5.8
Religion	Orthodox	32	12.5	36	14.0
-	catholic	12	4.7	8	3.1
	Protestant	198	77	198	77
	Farmer	158	61.5	122	47.5
Fathers	Gove employee	31	12.1	42	16.3

occupation	Merchant	35	13.6	45	17.5
-	Daily laborer	33	12.8	48	18.7
	Gammo	27	10.5	18	7.1
Ethnicity	Goffa	210	81.7	226	87.9
	Oromo	15	5.8	6	2.3
	Amhara	4	1.6	6	2.3
	Tigre	1	0.4	1	0.4
	No formal	93	36.2	97	37.7
Maternal	education				
education	Primary	68	26.5	100	38.9
status	Secondary	80	31.2	37	14.4
	College and	16	6.2	23	8.9
	above				
	No formal	96	37.4	101	39.3
Paternal	education				
education	Primary	91	35.4	101	39.3
	Secondary	53	20.6	29	11.3
	College and	17	6.6	26	10.1
	above				
Family size	1-3	85	33.1	75	29.2
	4-5	82	31.9	85	33.1
	>=6	90	35	97	37.7
Farmland	Yes	142	55.3	130	50.6
	No	115	44.7	127	49.4
Household	Rich	68	26.5	97	37.8
Wealth	Medium	93	36.2	98	38.1
tertiles	Poor	96	37.4	62	24.1
Grade level	1-4	196	76.3	178	69.3
	5-8	61	23.7	79	30.7

5.2. Water hygiene and Sanitation Characteristics

The findings of this study showed that most children 170(66.1%) from the school feeding program and more than half 150(58.4%) of children from schools without feeding program had latrine in their compound respectively. Regarding the hand washing facility, almost half 130(50.6%) of the household of children from school with the feeding program and 119(46.3%) children from schools without feeding program had a hand washing facility nearby the toilet respectively. Concerning waste disposal system 57(22.2%) children households and 43(16.7%) children households had disposing in an open field among feeding and non-feeding groups respectively. One third 85(33.1%) of respondents from schools with the school feeding program and 62(24.1%) of respondents from schools without feeding program had used unprotected water source for drinking purpose, 84(32.7%) and 97(37.7%) respondents had used pipe water, and

were as about 88(34.2%) and 98(38.1%) respondents got their water from protected spring in both feeding and non-feeding groups respectively (Table 3).

Table 3:- Water and sanitation characteristics of the school children in Zala district, southernEthiopia, 2020(N=514).

Variable	<u>category</u>	SFB(n=257)		NSFB(n=257)	
Latrine	Yes	Frequency 170	percent 66.1	frequency 150	Percent 58.4
availability	No	87	33.9	107	41.6
Waste	Pit	120	46.7	147	57.2
disposal method	Burring	80	31.1	67	26.1
method	Open field	57	22.2	43	16.7
a .	Pipe	84	32.7	97	37.7
Source of drinking	Protected	88	34.2	98	38.1
water	Un protected spring	85	33.1	62	24.1
Do used	Yes	117	45.5	132	51.4
method for water Rx	No	140	54.5	125	48.6
751 .1 1	Boiling	103	67.8	120	69.8
The method used for water	Adding chlorine	47	30.9	43	25.0
ι κα	Clothe	2	1.3	9	5.2
Hand	Yes	130	50.6	119	46.3
washing facility	No	127	49.4	138	53.7
The habit of	Yes	131	51	119	46.3
before a meal	No	126	49	138	53.7
Wash fruit	Yes	153	59.5	132	51.4
before caring	No	104	40.5	125	48.6
Wash hand	Yes	152	59.1	125	48.6
after toilet use	No	105	40.9	132	51.4

5.3. Morbidity related characteristics

Regarding illness 122 (47.5%) of children from the school feeding group and 130(50.6%) children from the non-school feeding, group had been dewormed in the last six months before the data collection respectively. Children from a school feeding program 27(10.5%) and non-school feeding, 42(16.3%) had a family history of TB in their life. About 70 (68.2%) and 72(63.7%) children from the feeding and the non-feeding group had experienced diarrhea in the last two weeks before the data collection time respectively. About 21(20.6%) and 30(26.6%) children from feeding and non-feeding had developed malaria in the last two weeks, and also about 11(10.8%) and 11(9.7%) had developed intestinal parasite infection among feeding and non-feeding groups respectively. (Table 4).

Table 4:-Morbidity related characteristics of school children in Zala district, southern Ethiopia, 2020(N=514).

Variable	224222	$\mathbf{SED}(n, 257)$		NCED(n 257)	
variable	category	SFB(n=257)		NSFB(n=257)	
		Frequency	percent	Frequency	percent
illnoss in	Yes	102	39.7	113	44
the last 2wks	No	155	60.3	144	56
	Diarrhea	70	68.6	72	63.7
Type of	Malaria	21	20.6	30	26.5
illness	Intestinal parasite	11	10.8	11	9.7
Family	Yes	27	10.5	42	16.3
History of TB	No	230	89.5	215	83.7
Dowormad	Yes	122	47.5	130	50.6
Dewonnied	No	135	52.5	127	49.4

5.4. Dietary intake related characteristics of the respondents

Greater than half of the participants 149(58%) in schools with the school feeding program and 122 (47.5%) in schools without school feeding program children had missed at least one of their

meal schedules. The majority of respondents 133(88.7%) from the feeding group and 56(45.9%) respondents from the non-feeding had missed their breakfast in the last two weeks before the data collection time (table 5).

Table 5:-Dietary intake related characteristics of the respondents from schools with and without feeding program of Zalla district, southern Ethiopia, 2020.

variable	category	SF B(n=257)		NSF B(n=257))
		Frequency	%	frequency	%
Meal	>=3	148	57.6	118	45.9
frequency	<3	109	42.4	139	54.1
Do you Missed	Yes	149	58	122	47.5
meal schedule	No	108	42	135	52.5
Missed	Breakfast	133	88.7	56	45.9
schedule	Lunch	14	10	38	31.1
	Dinner	2	1.3	28	23

5.6 Nutritional status of school children in Zala district

5.6.1. Undernutrition among school-age children in Zala district in 2020

The overall prevalence of stunting was 26.1% (7.8% severely and 18.2% moderately stunted). Concerning the prevalence of thinness, there were 14.2%, (7.2% severely, 7.0% moderately wasted). Concerning underweight about 16.5% were underweight (2.1% severely, 14.4% moderately underweight). (figure 5).





5.6.2. Prevalence of undernutrition in children's with and without feeding program

The magnitude of stunting among children with the school feeding program was 21.1 %(5.1% severely, 16% moderately stunted,). Whereas 10.9% of children were thinned (3.9% severely, 7% moderately) thinned. Among the children of school feeding beneficiary's about 12.6% were underweight (0.8% severely, 11.8% moderately).

Among the total respondents from schools without a feeding program, the magnitude of stunting was 31.1% (10.5% severely, 20.6% moderately stunted). Regarding thinness, about 17.5% of children were thinned (10.5% severely, 7.0% moderately wasted). Among the children from non–feeding 20.2% were underweight (3.2% severely, 17% moderately). There was a statically significant difference in stunting [COR=1.69(1.14-2.53)/P<0.009)]. And thinness [COR=1.74(1.05-2.88)/P<0.033)] among school children in feeding and non- feeding groups. (Figure 4).



Figure 4. The Prevalence of undernutrition among school children with and without school feeding program in Zala district 2020.

5.7. Factors associated with stunting in school children in the Zala district in 2020.

The following independent variables were candidates for the final model in the bivariate logistic regression analysis:-missing meal schedule, meal frequency per day, sex of the children, living with a whom, maternal occupation, father's occupation, latrine availability, family size, source of drinking water, deworming, and family history of TB. In the multivariable logistic regression analysis, meal frequency, missed meal schedule, latrine availability, fathers occupation, and deworming were found to be significantly associated factors of stunting among children with and without feeding program. Stunting was 2.37 times more likely to occur in children who had missed their meal schedule than those who did not[AOR=2.37, 95% CI (1.46-3.87)].

Children from households without latrine were 4.73 times more likely to be stunted as compared to those children from households with latrine [AOR=4.73, 95%CI(2.88-7.73)]. Children who had a meal frequency <3 times per day were 2.03 times more likely stunted as compared to those children who had meal frequency \geq 3 times per day [AOR=2.03,95%CI (1.20-3.26)]. The odds of Stunting was 2.53 times higher in children who had not dewormed in the last six month as compared to those who had dewormed [AOR=2.53,95%CI (1.32-4.83)]. Children whose father was a daily laborer were 2.65 times more likely to be stunted as compared to those children whose father was a farmer [AOR=2.65,95%CI(1.40-5.04)] (table 6). The model was well fitted with the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness of test =0.147.

		Stuntin	ıg			
<u>Characteri</u>	stics	Yes (%)	<u>No (%)</u>	<u>COR(95%CI)</u>	<u>AOR(95%CI)</u>	P-value
Meal	< 3	85(34.3)	163(65.7)	2.31(1.54-3.47)	2.03(1.20-3.26)	0 004**
per day	≥ 3	49(18.5)	217(81.5)	1	1	0.001
Is there						
missed	Yes	85(31.3)	187(68.7)	1.80(1.20-2.69)	2.37(1.46-3.87)	0.001**
schedule	No	49(20.3)	193(79.7)	1	1	
Deworme	No	96(22.9)	176(67.2)	2 ()7(1 28 2 12)	252(122492)	
last six	NO	80(32.8)	170(07.2)	2.07(1.58-5.12)	2.33(1.32-4.83)	0.005**
month	Yes	48(19)	204(81)	1	1	
Latrice	No	90(46.4)	104(53.6)	5.43(3.55-8.31)	4.73(2.88-7.73)	0.001
Latrine	Yes	44(13.7)	276(86.3)	1	1	0.001**
	GOVE	29(39.7)	44(60.3)	3.84(2.16-6.82)	2.49(1.26-4.93)	
Fathers	Merchant	26(32.5)	54(67.5)	2.81(1.58-4.97)	2.73(1.38-5.37)	0.002**
occupation	Daily laborer	38(47)	43(53)	5.15(2.97-8.91)	2.65(1.40-5.04)	
	Farmer	41(14.6)	239(85.4)	1	1	

Table 6. Multivariable logistic regression for stunting among school-age children 7–14 years oldin Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020(N=514).

Highly significant** p< 0.001, significant*p<0.05

5.8 Factors associated with thinness in school children in the Zala district in 2020.

The following independent variables were candidates for the final model in the bivariate logistic regression analysis:-missing meal schedule, availability of latrine, meal frequency per day,

father's occupation, deworming, family history of TB, the habit of hand washing after using the toilet, availability of hand washing facility.

In the multivariable logistic regression analysis, availability of hand washing facility, and Latrine availability was found to be significantly associated factors of thinness among children with and without feeding program. Children in households without a latrine in the compound were 6.01 times more likely to be thinned as compared to those children in households with a latrine in their compound [AOR=6.01, 95%CI (2.13-16.9)]. The odds of thinness was 9.01 times more likely to occur in children whose family had no hand washing facility nearby toilet as compared to those children who had a hand washing facility nearby toilet [AOR=9.01,95%CI (2.79-28.9)] (table 7).The model was well fitted with the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness of test =0.764.

Table 7. Multivariable logistic regression for thinness among school-age children 7–14 years old in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020 (N=514).

		Thi	nness			
<u>Character</u>	<u>istics</u>	<u>Yes (%)</u>	<u>No (%)</u>	<u>COR(95%CI)</u>	<u>AOR(95%CI)</u>	<u>P-value</u>
availabili ty of	No	50(19)	215(81)	2.28(1.35-3.87)	9.01(2.79-28.9)	0.004**
handwas hing facility	Yes	23(9.3)	226(90.7)	1	1	
Latrine availabili	No	41(21)	153(79)	2.41 (1.46-3.98)	6.01(2.13-16.9)	0.019*
ty	Yes	32(10)	288(90)	1	1	

Highly significant** p< 0.001, significant*p<0.05

5.9 Factors associated with Underweight in school children in Zala district in 2020.

The following independent variables were candidates for the final model in the bivariate logistic regression analysis:- sex of the child, living with whom, latrine availability, source of drinking water, deworming, illness in the last two weeks, fruit washing practice before eating, hand washing habit before meal eating and availability of hand washing facility.

In the multivariable logistic regression analysis, source of drinking water and living with whom were found to be significantly associated factors of underweight among school children with and without school feeding program. Children living with their father alone were 5.65 times more

likely underweighted as compared to those children living with their mother alone[AOR=5.65,95%CI (1.57-20.32)]. In another way, children living with both father and mother were 85% protected from being underweight as compared to children living with their mother alone[AOR=0.15,95%CI (0.02-1.48)]. Underweight was 7.15 times more likely to occur in children living with their sisters or brothers alone as compared to children living with their mothers. The Source of drinking water is another factor significantly associated with underweight. Therefore Children whose source of drinking water were from protected spring were 2.34 times more likely to be underweight as compared to children whose source of drinking water was from pipe[AOR=2.34,95%CI(0.91-6.02)]. Children whose source of drinking water was from an un-protected spring were 3.37 times more likely to be underweight as compared to children whose source of drinking water was from an un-protected spring were 3.37 times more likely to be underweight as compared to children whose source of drinking water was from an un-protected spring were 3.37 times more likely to be underweight as compared to children whose source of drinking water was from pipe [AOR=3.37,95%CI(1.29-8.78)] (table 8). The model was well fitted with the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness of test =0.254.

		Under	weight			<u>P-</u>
Charac	cteristics	Yes (%)	<u>No (%)</u>	<u>COR(95%CI)</u>	<u>AOR(95%CI)</u>	value
Sourc e of	Protected spring	16(8.6)	170(91.4)	2.34(0.94-5.83)	2.34(0.91-6.02)	0.044
drinki ng	Un-protected spring	17(11.6)	130(88.4)	3.25(1.31-8.07)	3.37(1.29-8.78)	
water	pipe	7(4)	174(96)	1	1	
	Father	16(15.8)	85(84.2)	4.89(1.37-17.44)	5.65(1.57-20.32)	
Living	Both	1(0.5)	219(99.5)	0.12(0.01-1.16)	0.15(0.02-1.48)	0.001
whom	Sister or	20(18)	92(82)	5 65(1 62-19 74)	7 15(2 01-25 49)	
	brother	20(10))2(02)	5.05(1.02 17.74)	7.15(2.01 25.49)	
	Mother	3(3.7)	78(96.3)	1	1	
whom	Sister or brother Mother	20(18) 3(3.7)	92(82) 78(96.3)	5.65(1.62-19.74) 1	7.15(2.01-25.49) 1	

Table 8. Multivariable logistic regression for underweight among school-age children 7–14 years old in Zala district, Southern Ethiopia, in 2020 (N=514).

Highly significant** p< 0.001, significant*p<0.05

CHAPTER SIX

6. DISCUSSION

In the current study the overall prevalence of undernutrition in terms of stunting, wasting, and underweight among the school children was 26.1%, 14.2%, and 16.5% respectively. The prevalence of stunting, wasting, and underweight among children with school feeding programs was 21 %, 10.9% 12.6% respectively. This prevalence was significantly lower when compared to the prevalence of stunting (p=0.009), wasting (P=0.033), and underweight among children without a school feeding program which was 31.1%, 17.5%, and 20.2% respectively.

6.1. Stunting

The prevalence of stunting among children of school feeding was 21% and among children of non- school feeding was 31.1%. The public significance of the problem was high in non- feeding group and medium in the feeding group. The finding of stunting from the present study in children of non-feeding was found to be higher than the finding from a study conducted in Nairobi Kenya which was 22%.(69) This difference may be due to the sampling design meaning the Kenyan study was an interventional study (67 school children were involved in Nairobi Kenya study). Finding from the present study was also higher when compared to a study in Addis Ababa among non-feeding children where the prevalence was 16.5%(70). This difference may be attributed due to the study area, living style.

The prevalence of stunting among non- feeding children in the present study was lower than a comparative study done in Ghana (44.7%)(71), Kenya (53.1%),(72), and Meket woreda (48.3%)(45). The difference in Ghana study may be attributed due to differences in age group among study participants. The difference with the Kenyan study may be due to differences in the community participated meaning in Kenya the community was food insecure were as in the present study not. The difference among the study done in Meket woreda was attributed due to a long time fasting in the northern part of Ethiopia that related to religion. Findings from the present study among the non-feeding children were higher than the study done in Ghana where the prevalence was 17.2%(73). This difference may be attributed due to the long period of feeding program implementation in school children in Ghana and the economic status of the two countries.

Finding from the present study was higher when compared to a study conducted in school feeding children in Ghana 16.2% (44). This difference may be attributed due to sample size, child-caring practice, feeding frequency at school.

The prevalence of stunting was 21% among children from the school feeding program beneficiary and 31.1% among children from none school feeding program beneficiaries. This showed that there was a significant difference in the nutritional status of children among the groups. Another study done in Addis Ababa showed that the finding was lower than the current study were the prevalence of stunting among children of school feeding was 23.6% (62). This difference may be attributed due to the difference in the study area, living style of the community, child feeding habit.

Also, the prevalence of stunting among the feeding group was lower than a study done in Ghana 63%) (71)Kenya (30%)(72), and Meket(58%). (45). The difference in Ghana study may be attributed due to differences in age group among study participants. The difference with the Kenyan study may be due to differences in the community participated meaning in Kenya the community was food unsecured whereas in the present study not. The difference among the study done in Meket woreda was attributed due to long time fasting in the northern part of Ethiopia that related to religion

In the current study one of the factors associated with stunting was meal frequency, so children who did not get the daily recommended amount of energy may result in undernutrition. This was supported by a study done in Hohoe Municipality, Ghana were children who consumed only two meals per day were more likely stunted(34). Another study conducted in Bangladesh showed that children who had meal frequency 1-2 times were also associated with increased odds of stunting which was similar to the current study (35). Another study conducted in Addis Ababa stated that low meal frequency (\leq 3 times) per day was significantly associated with stunting which was similar to the current study (62). Children who had a meal frequency <3 times per day were 2.03 times more likely stunted as compared to those children who had meal frequency \geq 3 times per day.

The latrine was another factor significantly associated with stunting because hygiene and sanitation issue was one of the underlying cause for malnutrition this supported with a study done in Dangila north Ethiopia states unavailability of a latrine, were an independent predictor of stunting(51). Children living in households without a latrine in the compound were 4.73 times

more likely to be stunted as compared to those children in households with a latrine in their compound. Missed meal schedule was a significant factor of stunting in the study subjects. Missed meal schedule leads to a shortage of energy calorie to the cells and ends up with malnutrition. This was supported by a study conducted in Aribaminch states that children who missed their meal schedule were 57% more stunted as compared to those who did not miss the schedule (20). This also supports the present study which showed that Stunting was 2.37 times more likely to occur in children who had missed their meal schedule than those who did not. Father's occupation is another predictor variable, so according to this study child whose father was a daily laborer was 2.65 times more likely stunted as compared to those children whose father was a farmer. This association was supported by a study conducted in Gobu Seyo District, East Wollega zone states that children whose father was a farmer, this is may be due the reason that lower household economic status may lead to household food insecurity which leads to undernutrition (46).

Deworming is another factor significantly associated with stunting in school children. Parasitic infection particularly helminthes leads to undernutrition due to competition for essential nutrients as well as endogenous nutrient losses, so to minimize this problem deworming was a good intervention. (74). Children who had not dewormed in the last six months were 2.53 times more likely to be stunted as compared to those children who had dewormed. This study was supported by a study conducted in India which states that those children who were dewormed where had improved nutritional states as compared to those who did not deworm (75)

6.2. Thinness

In the present study, the prevalence of thinness among the feeding group was 10.9% whereas among the non-feeding group were 17.5% and there was a statistical difference among the groups in terms of thinness (P=0.033).

The prevalence of thinness in the present study was higher than a comparative cross-sectional study in school feeding children done in Denkyembour district, eastern region, Ghana showed that the prevalence of thinness among children in schools with FP was 9.3% (44). This discrepancy may be occurred due to child health& nutrition polices, child feeding practice, the difference between the two countries' school feeding program implementation modalities.

Finding from this study was higher than a study conducted among children of school feeding in Addis Ababa were the prevalence of thinness among the feeding group was found to be 7.1%(62). This difference may be attributed due to the difference in the study area, economic status, living style, health-seeking behavior of the community. The finding also was higher than the study conducted in Kenya where the prevalence of thinness among the feeding group was 5%(72). This difference may be attributed due to the difference in the number of participants in the study meaning Kenyan study participants were small numbers than the prevalence of thinness among the feeding group was 21.5%(71), and 27.8%.(45). This difference may be attributed due to age range difference in Ghana were 10-19 years old children were incorporated, whereas in the case of Meket woreda in the northern part of Ethiopia the difference may be attributed due to a long period of fasting.

The prevalence of thinness among the non- feeding group was 17.5% in the present study. This was lower than the study conducted in Ghana and Meket woreda where the prevalence was 18.5%(71), and 37.6%(45) respectively. This difference may be due to age difference and having a large sample size in Ghana study. And concerning Mekite woreda, the difference may be attributed due to the long period of fasting in the northern part of Ethiopia. On the other hand, the prevalence among children without a feeding program was higher than the study done in Kenya(11%)(69) and Addis Ababa(10%)(70). This difference may be attributed due to the long time implementation of the school feeding program in Kenya. Regarding Addis Ababa's study difference in the study area, living style, children caring habit, economic status, and healthcare-seeking behavior of the community as compared to the present studied community.

Regarding associated factors availability of hand washing facility and latrine, availability were significantly associated. In the current study children from households without latrine were 4.73 times more likely to be thinned as compared to those with households that had latrine in their compounds. This finding was supported by a study conducted in Mieso woreda states that those children from households without latrine were 2.05 times more likely to be thinned as compared to those with households that had latrine in their compounds. (76). The absence of a hand washing facility was one of the significant independent variables. Therefore in the present study thinness was 9.01 times more likely occurred in children from households without a hand washing facility as compared to those from households with hand washing facilities. This result

is supported by a study done in Addis Ababa were children from households without hand washing facilities were 2.08 times more thinned as compared to those from households with hand washing facilities. (77)

6.3. Underweight

In the current study, the prevalence of underweight among feeding and non-feeding school children was 12.6% and 20.2% respectively. This difference was not statistically significant (p=0.103). The prevalence was higher than a study conducted in Kenya(8.1%)(72) and Addis Ababa(5.6%)(70)among children with feeding program beneficiaries and non-feeding program beneficiaries Kenya (16.3%) and Addis Ababa (10.5%) respectively. This difference may be attributed due to the age difference of the study population in Kenya. Regarding the Addis Ababa's study Hygiene and sanitation difference, living style, study area were the contributing factors for the difference in prevalence . The prevalence of underweight in the current study was lower than the study done in Gonder town among school children states that the prevalence of underweight was 34.8%(54). This difference may be attributed due to the long period of fasting related to religion in the northern part of Ethiopia, study design meaning Gonder study was community-based so it had a chance of handling more cases.

Regarding the factors associated with underweight among the school children were:- source of drinking water and living with whom were significantly associated with underweight. Source of drinking water is crucial to minimize wash related causes of malnutrition. In the present study children who used unprotected spring water were 3.3 times more likely to be underweight as compared to those who use pipe water. This association was supported by a study conducted in Tanzania were children who used unprotected sources of water were 9.3 times more likely to be underweight as compared to those used protected sources. (78) . According to the present study children living with both parents were 85% protective for malnutrition as compared to those children living with a mother or father alone. This is supported by a study conducted in Nigeria states that children living with both parents were protective of underweight as compared to those living with both parents were protective of underweight as compared to those living with separate parents (79).

Limitation of this study .

• The cross-sectional design used in the study was not appropriate to establish a causal relationship between the provision of school meals and undernutrition.

CHAPTER SEVEN

7. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1. Conclusion

The finding suggests that SFP has improved the nutritional status of school children. Even so, the prevalence of malnutrition in the area was high but there was a statistically significant difference occurred in the feeding and non-feeding groups due to the school feeding program implementation.

Concerning public health importance, the overall prevalence of thinness was in serious public health problems, whereas stunting and underweight were in medium public health problems. Meal frequency per day, missed meal schedule, Latrine availability, deworming and father's occupation were found to be significantly associated factors of stunting. The availability of hand washing facility and latrine were factors associated with thinness. Whereas the source of drinking water and living with whom were factors associated with underweight among school children in the area.

7.2. Recommendations

Based on the finding of the study, the following recommendations were made

Policymakers

- The school feeding programs are better if it incorporates animal source foods because most high-quality proteins and more bioavailable micronutrients are found in animal food products which can increase brain functioning and hence improve the children's educational performance.
- Better to incorporate the school feeding program as a pillar in primary schools in the food and nutrition policy of Ethiopia.

Regional health and education bureau

- Better to allocate the budget for the program routinely to expand the program to other areas in the region.
- Better to design health and nutrition education program interventions to improve child feeding practices.
- Supporting schools to construct a full package of WASH components at the school level to minimize communicable disease and other contributing factors for malnutrition.

Researchers

- Better to conduct a longitudinal study design that can assess the casual association of child nutritional status
- Further study about the quality of the meal provided to the children will be needed.

Health office

- Better to design health and nutrition-specific activities to improve the nutritional status of school children.
- Strengthening the school deworming program with the collaboration of education office
- Increasing the construction and practice of using both public and private toilets and hand washing facilities near the toilet.
- Teaching and providing water treatment chemicals with the collaboration of the water sector

Education office

• Better to construct pipes in school compounds to supply clean water service to schools with the collaboration of the water sector

For NGOs

• Supporting the local government by different utensils and supplies for the school feeding program and playing a great role in expanding the program to other primary schools to improve the nutritional status of school children

REFERENCES

- World demography 2020 .Available at https:// www.worldometers.info/ demographics/ demographics-of-africa, https:// www.collinsdictionary.com/ dictionary/ english/ schoolage-children date accesed 23/1/2020.
- Nutrition Foundation of India, New Delhi Nutrition and physical performance in school children. Website: http:// www.nutrition foundation ofindia.res.in date of accesed 18/2/2020. 2009;
- Bundy DAP GH. The health of school age children: Report of a workshop Parasitology. Today. 1005;11:166-7.
- Horton S, Shekar M, Ajay M. Opportunities for investments in low income Asia [Internet]. 2009. Available from: https://siteresources.worldbank.org/HEALTHNUTRITIONANDPOPULATION/Resource s/Peer-Reviewed-Publications/ScalingUpNutrition.pdf
- Bundy D, Burbano C,Grosh M Gelli A,Jukes M DL. REthinking School Feeding Social Safety Nets,Child Development and the Education Sector. Washington DC: The International Bank for Reconstructiin and Development/Tje World Bank. 2009;
- World Food Programme. World. 2018; Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/World_Food_Programme
- Chepkwony, B. C., Kariuki, B. M., & Kosgei LJ. School feeding program and its impact on academic achievement in ECDE in Roret Division, Bureti District in Kenya. J Emerg Trends Educ Res Policy Stud. 2013;4(3):407–12.
- 8. Union THEA. SUSTAINABLE. 2018;(January).
- WFP. School Feeding Policy. 2013;1–36. Available from: https://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/communications/wfp263529. pdf

- 10. WFP. CHILD Based Food for Education. W. F. Programme. . Addis Ababa.: WFP. 2009;
- UNICEF. The State of World's Children. A fair chance for every child. 2017; Available from: https://www.unicef.org/publications/index_86269.html
- United Nations International Children Educational Fund (UNICEF). Levels and Trends in Child Mortality: Estimates Developed by the UN Inter- agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. 2011;
- UNICEF / WHO / World Bank Group Joint Child Malnutrition Estimates. LEVELS AND TRENDS IN CHILD MALNUTRITION. 2018;1–16. Available from: https://www.who.int/nutgrowthdb/2018-jme-brochure.pdf
- Levels and trends in child malnutrition UNICEF / WHO / World Bank Group Joint Child Malnutrition Estimates 2019. https://www.who.int/nutgrowthdb/jme-2019-keyfindings.pdf?ua=1.
- De Onis M, Blössner M, Borghi E. Prevalence and trends of stunting among preschool children, 1990–2020. Public Health Nutr. 2012;15:142–8.
- 16. Mesfin F, Berhane Y, Worku A. Prevalence and associated factors of stunting among primary school children in eastern Ethiopia. Nutr Diet Suppl. 2015;7:61–8.
- Bogale TY, Bala ET, Tadesse M, Asamoah BO. Prevalence and associated factors for stunting among 6 – 12 years old school age children from rural community of Humbo district, Southern Ethiopia. BMC Public Health. 2018;18:1–8.
- Reji P, Belay G, Erko B, Legesse M, Belay M. Intestinal parasitic infections and malnutrition amongst first-cycle primary schoolchildren in Adama, Ethiopia. Afr J Prm Health Care Fam Med. 2011;3(1):198–203.
- Wolde M, Berhan Y, Chala A. Determinants of underweight, stunting and wasting among schoolchildren. BMC Public Health. 2015;15(8):1–9.
- 20. Zerihun E, Tariku B, Abebe GA, Melketsedik ZA. Prevalence and factors associated with stunting and thinness among school-age children in Arba Minch Health and Demographic

Surveillance Site, Southern. PLoS One. 2018;13(11):1–12.

- The Cost of HUNGER in Ethiopia Implications for Implications for the Growth and the Growth and Transformation Transformation of Ethiopia, Social and Economic Impacts of Child Undernutrition in Ethiopia Summary Report. 2016;
- 22. Bain LE, Awah PK, Geraldine N, Kindong NP, Sigal Y, Bernard N, et al. Malnutrition in Sub–Saharan Africa: burden, causes and prospects. Pan Afr Med J. 2013;15:120.
- 23. Strategy N. THE FEDERAL DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF ETHIOPIA NATIONAL SCHOOL HEALTH AND NUTRITION STRATEGY. 2012;(October).
- 24. HUAN WANG, QIRAN ZHAO, MATTHEW BOSWELL MaSR. Malnutrition in Rural China. J Sch Health. 2019;1–9.
- 25. Kristjansson B, Petticrew M, MacDonald B et al. School feeding for improving the physical and psychosocial health of disadvantaged students. In: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. 2007;
- 26. Danquah AO, Amoah AN. Nutritional Status of Participating and Non-participating Pupils in the Ghana School Feeding Programme. J Food Res. 2012;1(3):263–71.
- 27. Kj S, Tk C. NUTRITIONAL STATUS OF SCHOOL GOING CHILDREN BETWEEN THE AGE GROUP OF 6-12 YRS IN RURAL AREA OF BIJPAUR DISTRICT. Open Access J. 2016;7(5):5–8.
- Avey T. history of school feeding program. 2015; available at https://www.pbs.org/food/the-history-kitchen/history-school-lunch/ accessed date 24/1/2020.
- Crowley RH. School dinners. 1907 available at https://nationalarchives.gov.uk/documents/education/school-dinners.pdfaccessed date 25/1/2020.
- 30. Masset E, Gelli A. Improving community development by linking agriculture, nutrition and education : design of a randomised trial of " home-grown " school feeding in Mali.

BIOMED Cent TRIALS. 2013;14(55):1–23.

- 31. Naotunna NPGCR, Dayarathna M, Maheshi H, Amarasinghe GS, Kithmini VS, Rathnayaka M. Nutritional status among primary school children in rural Sri Lanka; a public health challenge for a country with high child health standards. BMC Public Health. 2017;17:1–11.
- 32. Original article : A study on nutritional status and morbidity pattern among primary school children in Sullia town , South India . 2015;(September):100–12.
- Olanipekun TO, Obatolu VA. Assessment of nutritional status of primary school children in Ibadan, South-West Nigeria. Nutr Food Sci. 2015;
- Agbozo F, Atito P, Abubakari A. Malnutrition and associated factors in children : a comparative study between public and private schools in Hohoe Municipality , Ghana. BMC Nutr. 2016;1–10.
- 35. Yeasmin I. Prevalence and Determinants of Undernutrition among School Age Slum Children in Dhaka City, Bangladesh. Nutr Heal Sci. 2016;3(2).
- Rajak BK, Choudhary SK, Kumar S. Assessment of Nutritional Status of Primary School Children through Anthropometric in Rural Practice Area of IGIMS, Patna : A Cross-Sectional Study. Int J Sci Study. 2018;6(7):83–9.
- 37. Neelu S. Nutritional Status of urban primary school children in. J Epidemiol. 2009;8(1):6–
 9.
- M. Kamran Shaikh, Nitin Kamble, Dhiraj Bhawnani, Samir Bele SRR. Assessment of nutritional status among school children of Karimnagar, Telangana, India. Int J Res Med Sci. 2016;4(10):4611–7.
- Oninla SO, Owa JA, Onayade AA, Taiwo O. Comparative Study of Nutritional Status of Urban and Rural Nigerian School Children. J Trop Pediatr. 2006;53(1):39–43.
- 40. Aiga H, Abe K, Andrianome VN, Randriamampionona E, Razafinombana AR, Murai T, et al. Risk factors for malnutrition among school-aged children : a cross-sectional study in

rural Madagascar. BMC Public Health. 2019;773(19):1-13.

- 41. Prince AK, Laar A. nutritional status of school-age children in the nkwanta south district volta region of ghana. Eur Sci J. 2014;10(30):310–27.
- 42. Ew M, An M. Nutrition status and associated factors among children in public primary schools in Dagoretti , Nairobi , Kenya. Afr Health Sci. 2013;13(1):39–46.
- 43. Wahed WYA, Hassan SK, Eldessouki R. Malnutrition and Its Associated Factors among Rural School Children in Fayoum Governorate, Egypt. J Environ Public Health. 2017;
- 44. Kwabla MP, Gyan C, Zotor F. Nutritional status of in-school children and its associated factors in Denkyembour District, eastern region, Ghana: comparing schools with feeding and non-school feeding policies. Nutr J. 2018;17(8):1–8.
- 45. Demilew YM, Nigussie AA. The relationship between school meals with thinness and stunting among primary school students, in Meket Wereda, Ethiopia: comparing schools with feeding and non- feeding program. BMC Nutr. 2020;6(34):1–10.
- 46. Bidu KT, Hailemariam T, Negeri EL. Prevalence and associated factors of undernutrition among school adolescents in Gobu Seyo District, East Wollega Zone, Oromia regional state of West Ethiopia. J Public Heal Epidemiol. 2018;10(7):251–69.
- 47. Nardos Alemayehu. Addis ababa university school of graduat student center of food and nutrition school meal nutrition adiquecy and nutritional status of school children. 2018.
- 48. Zerdo Z, Yohanes T, Tariku B, Teshome T. iMedPub Journals Association between Nutritional Status and Soil-Transmitted Helminthes Re- Infection among School-Age Children in Chencha District, Southern Ethiopia: A Cross-Sectional Study Abstract Study area and description of study participants. MedPub Journals. 2017;8(2):1–6.
- 49. Degarege D, Degarege A, Animut A. Undernutrition and associated risk factors among school age children in Addis Ababa , Ethiopia. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:1–9.
- 50. Elema TB. Predictors for the prevalence of under-nutrition, wasting and stunting of 3 to 12 years school aged children in the Asella Luther Child Development. J Nutr Hum Heal.

2018;2(2):1-10.

- Demilew YM, Emiru AA. Under nutrition and associated factors among school adolescents in Dangila Town, Northwest Ethiopia: a cross sectional study. Afri Heal Sci. 2018;18(3):756–66.
- 52. Mokonnen G. school of graduate studies college of natural sciences.nutritional status of school children in schools with feeding comparative crosssectional study in addis. 2017.
- 53. Assefa Alemnesh college of natural sciences center for food science and nutrition nutritional status of school children in addis baba involved in school feeding program : a comparative study. 2015.
- Worku N, Erko B, Torben W, Belay M, Kasssu A, Fetene T HK. Malnutrition and intestinal parasitic infections in school children of Gondar, North West Ethiopia. PUBMED. 2007;
- Mukherjee R, Chaturvedi S, Bhalwar R. Determinants of Nutritional Status of School Children. Med J Armed Forces India. 2007;64(3):227–31.
- 56. Rajan XC. A community based study to assess the prevalence and sociodemographic factors influencing undernutrition among children aged 6 to 14 years in a rural area of Coimbatore. Int J Community Med Public Heal. 2019;6(6):2549–54.
- 57. Ayogu RNB, Afiaenyi IC, Madukwe EU, Udenta EA. Prevalence and predictors of undernutrition among school children in a rural South-eastern Nigerian community : a cross sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2018;18:1–9.
- 58. Malpani AK, Sarat S, Shivanand VH, Ade A. Prevalence of Malnutrition among School Children in Rural Area Of North Karnataka Region. Indian J Pharm Pract. 2014;7(2):33– 6.
- 59. Ali GE, Sc M, Habib NS, Sc DN, Ismail GM, Sc DN. Nutritional Status among Primary Governmental School Student 's, Cairo Governorate. Med J cairo. 2016;84(1):157–65.
- 60. Abdelaziz SB, Rene M, Youssef L, Sedrak AS, Labib JR. Nutritional Status and Dietary

Habits of School Children in Beni-Suef. Food Nutr Sci. 2015;6:54–63.

- EKE OOIACUKKICB, ADIMORA NSIANIGN. Nutritional Status of Primary School Children in Enugu, Nigeria Using Anthropometric Measurements. Orient J Med. 2018;30(1–2).
- 62. Assefa Alemnesh. college of natural sciences center for food science and nutrition nutritional status of school children in addis baba involved in school feeding program : a comparative study. 2015.
- 63. Ew M, An M. Nutrition status and associated factors among children in public primary schools in Dagoretti , Nairobi , Kenya.
- 64. Zala Woreda Health office planing Data. 2019;
- WHO Child Growth Standards. Dev Med Child Neurol [Internet]. 2009 Dec;51(12):1002–1002. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009.03503.x
- 66. Zenebe M, Gebremedhin S, Henry CJ, Regassa N. School feeding program has resulted in improved dietary diversity, nutritional status and class attendance of school children. Ital J Pediatr [Internet]. 2018 Dec 23;44(1):16. Available from: https://ijponline.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13052-018-0449-1
- Lisa Hjelm, Astrid Mathiassen, Darryl Miller AWR. Creation of a Wealth Index 1 -.
 2017. 1–26 p.
- 68. Ethiopian Central Statistical Agency and ICF International. Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2011. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia and Calverton, Maryland, USA: Central Statistical Agency and ICF International. 2012. Available at: https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/.
- 69. Neervoort F, Rosenstiel I Von, Bongers K, Demetriades M, Shacola M, Wolffers I. Effect of a School Feeding Programme on Nutritional Status and Anaemia in an Urban Slum : A Preliminary Evaluation in Kenya. J Trop Pediatr. 2013;59(3):165–74.
- 70. Alemnesh Assefa. Assefa Alemnesh college of natural sciences center for food science

and nutrition nutritional status of school children in addis baba involved in school feeding program : a comparative study. 2015. BMC Nutr. 2015;

- Prince AK, Laar A. NUTRITIONAL STATUS OF SCHOOL-AGE CHILDREN IN THE NKWANTA SOUTH DISTRICT - VOLTA REGION OF GHANA. Eur Sci J. 2014;10(30):310–27.
- Betty Musamali MKW and GMM. Impact of school lunch programmes on nutritional status of children in Vihiga District, Western Kenya. African J Food, Agric Nutr Dev. 2010;7.
- 73. Mavis Pearl Kwabla CG and FZ. Kwabla MP, Gyan C, Zotor F. Nutritional status of inschool children and its associated factors in Denkyembour District, eastern region, Ghana : comparing schools with feeding and non-school feeding policies. Nutr J. 2018;17(8):1–8. Nutr J. 2018;17(8):1–8.
- Hailegebriel T. Undernutrition, intestinal parasitic infection and associated risk factors among selected primary school children in Bahir Dar, BMC Infect Dis. 2018;394(18):1–11.
- Awasthi S, Peto R, Pande VK, Fletcher RH, Read S, Bundy DAP. Effects of Deworming on Malnourished Preschool Children in India : An Open-Labelled , Cluster-Randomized Trial. 2008;2(4):2–7.
- 76. Awel AA, Lema TB, Hebo HJ. Nutritional status and associated factors among primary school adolescents of pastoral and agro- pastoral communities, Mieso Woreda, Somali Region, Ethiopia: A comparative cross-sectional study. 2016;8(November):297–310.
- 77. Degarege D, Degarege A, Animut A. Undernutrition and associated risk factors among school age children in Addis Ababa , Ethiopia. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:1–9.
- Mshida HA, Kassim N, Mpolya E, Kimanya M. Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene Practices Associated with Nutritional Status of school Children in Semi-Pastoral Communities Tanzania. 2018;98(5):1242–9.
- 79. Adekunle L, Sternin J, Olsen J. The effect of family structure on a sample of malnourished

urban Nigerian children. 2005;26(2):230–3.

Annex 1 Assent or Consent form

Title: Undernutrition and associated factors among rural primary school children in Zala district southern Ethiopia. A comparative study between schools with and without school feeding programs .

Principal investigator: Abrachew Datiko, working in Zala district health Office as maternal and child health and nutrition service coordinator and second-year human nutrition student working the research.**E-mail**:abrachewd@gmail.com, **cellphone**: 0916882876.

Institution: Jimma University, Institute Of Health, Faculty of Public Health, Department Of Nutrition and Dietetics

Procedures

If you agree to participate, I will collect data on the height and weight of your child for analysis.

Risks Nothing harmful will come from your child's participation.

Benefits There are no direct benefits to you or your child. However, the results will possibly help others. Based on the finding I will inform the authorized person and respective stakeholders to work on it

Cost There is no direct cost to you for participating

Compensation There will be no compensation to you for participating

Participant's right as I have said things that are not clear to you, you may ask me without any fear and I will give you an answer and explanation .you may feel free and ask questions. Your child participation in the study entirely volunteers and up to you to decide. There is no penalty if you don't agree to participate. You can say no without worry. The school and the feeding program providers as well as the health care center will continue to give food and care for your child as usual.

Parent's right You have the right to ask about anything that is not clear and I wish you could understand the whole process and you may ask me without any fear and I will give you an answer and explanation to you and please feel free and ask questions as parent/guardian. Your child participation in the study entirely volunteers and up to you to decide. There is no penalty if your child or you don't agree to participate. You can say no without worry. The school administration on or all stakeholders will assist your child or you as usual.

Confidentiality By excluding names and other identifying numbers from the questionnaire confidentiality of information will be assured. Any information about your child will be kept privet.

Persons to contact If you have any question, you can ask at any time, if you have additional questions about the study you may contact: Abrachew Datiko, working in Zala district health Office as maternal and child health and nutrition service coordinator and second-year human nutrition student working the research **E-mail**:abrachewd@gmail.com, **cellphone**: 0916882876

Would you allow your child to participate in the study? Yes ------No -----.Thank you

VOLUNTEER AGREEMENT

The above document describing the benefits, risks, and procedures for the research title Undernutrition and associated factors among rural primary school children in Zala district southern Ethiopia. A comparative study between schools with and without the school feeding program has been read and explained to me. I have been allowed to have any questions about the research answered to my satisfaction. I agree to participate as a volunteer.

Child's name

Name of child's guardian/parent

Date Signature or mark of child's guardian/parent

If volunteers cannot read the form themselves, a witness must sign here:

I was present while the benefits, risks, and procedures were read to the volunteer. All questions were answered and the volunteer has agreed to take part in the research.

Date

Name and signature of a witness

I certify that the nature and purpose, the potential benefits, and possible risks associated with participating in this research have been explained to the above individual.

Date Name Signature of Person Who Obtained Consent

Thank you for your cooperation

Annex 2 . የፈቃደኝነት መግለጫ ቅፅ

ርዕስ፡ በዛሳ ወረዳ በተመረጡ አንደኛ ደረጃ ት/ቤቶች የምንባ መርሀ ግብር ውስጥ ያሉናየሌሉ ተማሪዎችን የምንብና የሰውነት እድንት መጠን መስካትና ማወዳደር

የጥናቱ ተጠሪ ፡ አብራቸው ዳቲኮ

ይህ ጥናት በየት/ቤቶቹ ባለው የምንባ መርሃ ግብር ተጠቃሚ የሆኑና ያልሆኑ ተማሪዎች የእድንት መጠንን ይለካል እንዲሁም ያወዳድራል በተጨማሪም የተማሪዎቹን የተመጣጠነ ምግብ አወሳሰድ ሁኔታን ያጠናል።

የስራ ቅደም ተከተል:-

በዚሀ የምርምር ስራ ላይ ለመሳተፍ ፍቃደኛ ከሆናችሁ:-

1 ለምርምር ስራው አስፈላጊ የሆኑ ጥያቄዎችን እንጠይቃችሁአለን ።

2. የተማሪዎቹን ቁመት ፣ክብደት እንስካለን ።

3.ተማሪዎቹ በቀን ውስጥ የሚመንቡትን የምፃብ አይነት እንጠይቃለ።

የአደ*ጋ መጠን*:-

የአደጋ መጠኑ እጅግ ዝቅተኛ አና የተማሪዎቹን የእረፍት ጊዜ ብቻ መጠቀምን ይካትታል።

ከምርምሩ የሚገኙ ጥቅሞች:-

ከምርምሩ ውጤት በመነሳት ለተመረጡ ተማሪዎች የምንባ አንልግሎት ከሚስጡ ድርጅቶች *ጋ*ር በማንናኘት ተጠቃሚ እንዲሆኑ ጥረት ይደረ*ጋ*ል ፡፡ እንዲሁም እየተሰጠ ባለው የምንባ አንልግሎት ላይ ያሉ ክፍተቶችን ለይቶ በማውጣት አንልግሎቱን የተሻለለ ማድረግ ከፍተኛ አስተዋፅዎ ያደር*ጋ*ል ፡፡

ክፍያ:- በዚህ የምርምር ስራ ላይ ለመሳተፍ ምንም አይነት ክፍያ አትጠየቁም።

ማካካሻ:- በዚህ የምርምር ስራ ላይ በመሳተፋችሁ የገንዘብም ሆነ ምንም አይነት ድጋፍ አይደሬግላችሁም።

የተሳታፊዎችመብት:- ያልንባችሁ ነንር ካለ በነፃነት እና ያለምንም ማመንታት መጠየቅ ትችላላችሁ ። በዚህ የምርምር ስራ ላይ መሳተፍ ሙሉበሙሉ በእናንተ ፌቃደኝነት ላይ የተመሰረተ ነው።

ሚስጥራዊነት:- የምርምሩ ውጤቶች እና ማንኛውም መረጃ በሚስጥር ይያዛል።

ተመራማሪው(እኔ) ብቻ መረጃዎቹን አገኛስሁ ፡፡ እንዲሁም ሪፖርቱ ሲፃፍ መረጃዎቹን ሴሳ ሰው እንዳያገኛቸው በተሰየስም (ኮድ) ይቀመጣሉ ፡፡ ማንኛውም አይነት ጥያቄ ካለዎት የሚከተሰውን አድራሻ ይጠቀሙ

አብራቸው ዳቲኮ ;- ስልክ ቁጥር 0916882876

በዚህ የምርምር ስራ ላይ ለመሳተፍ ፈቃደኛ ከሆኑ እባክዎ በክፊት ቦታው ላይ ይፈርሙ::

ስለ ምርምሩ በበቂ ሁኔታ ተገልፆልኛል እንዲሁም ጥያቄዎቹ በሚገባ ተመልሰዋል ስለዚህ በዚህ ምርምር ላይ ለመሳተፍ ተስማምቻለሁ።

ራርማ	ስም	ቀን
ስም	የምርምሩተወካይፊርማ	ቀን

ስስ ትብብርዎ እናመስግናስን ።

ANNEXES .3 English Version Questionnaire

Part I: Socio-demographic Characteristics

Socio-demographic Characteristics				
Ques	stion	Response	skip rule	
101	Age of the child in complete years	vears		
102	Sex of the child	1. Male 2. Female		
103	Grade level			
104	What is your birth order? (Which child are you in your family?)	$1 = \leq 2$ 2= >2		
105	With whom you are living	 Mother Father Brother or sister Others (specify 		
106	Occupation of your Mother/caretaker?	 Farmer Government Employee Merchant Housewife 99 Other(specify) 		
107	Religion of parents	 Muslim Orthodox Catholic Protestant Others (specify) 		
108	Occupation of father	1=Farmer 2=Government Employee 3=Merchant 4=daily laborer 99Others (specify)		
109	Ethnicity	1. Gamo 2. Gofa 3. Oromo		

Amhara
 Tigre

99 Others

(specify)

110	Maternal education	1. No formal education
		2. Primary education
		3. Secondary education
		4. college and above
111	Fathers education	1. No formal education
		2. Primary education
		3. Secondary education
		4. College and above
112	How many people including yourself, live	1=1-3
	in your household (Family size)?	2= 4-5
		3=≥6
113	Do your families have farmland?	1=yes
		2=no

Part 2. Household wealth index indicator variables

114	Household items	1=yes	0=no	
А	Does your family have functional Radio?	1	0	
В	Does your family have a functional Television?	1	0	
С	Does your family have an Electric stove?	1	0	
D	Does your family have a Bicycle?	1	0	
Е	Does your family have a Motor cycle?	1	0	
F	Does your family have a Cart?	1	0	
G	Does your family have a Watch hand/wall?	1	0	
Н	Does your family have a Mobile phone?	1	0	
Ι	Does your family have Plough?	1	0	
J	Does your family have a Sofa?	1	0	
K	Does your family have a Mattress?	1	0	
L	Does your family have a Chair?	1	0	
М	Does your family have a Generator?	1	0	
N	Does your family have milling?	1	0	
0	Does your family have Oxen?	1	0	
Р	Does your family have Cows?	1	0	
Q	Does your family have Horse/mules?	1	0	
R	Does your family have Goats/Sheep?	1	0	
S	Does your family have Chickens?	1	0	

Т	Does your family have a Donkey?	1	0	

Part 3.Water and sanitation-related questions

115	Do you have a latrine in the compound/ household?	1. Yes 2. No
116	If yes what type of latrine do you have?	1=Pit 2=VIP 3=Flashed 4 =Other (specify
117	How do you dispose of the waste generated in the compound?	 pit burning open field garbage can
118	What is the source of drinking water?	 pipe water protected well/ spring unprotected well/ spring river
119	do you do anything to the water to make it safer to drink?	1=yes 2=no
120	Methods used to treat the water to make it safe?	1=Boil 2=Add Chlorine 3= Strain through a cloth
121	Is there a hand washing facility?	1=yes 2=no
122	Do you have a habit of washing your hand before a meal?	1. yes 2. no
123	Do you have a habit of washing your hand after using a toilet?	1. yes 2. no
124	Do you wash Fruit before eating?	1=yes 2=no

125	Have you experienced any illness/ infection in the last 2 weeks?	1. yes 2. No
126	If yes what type of illness did you experienced?	 Diarrhea malaria parasitic infection Others (specify)
127	Do you have dewormed in the last 6 months?	1=yes 2=no
128	Do you have a family history of TB?	1=yes 2=no

Part 4. Morbidity related questions

Part: 5. Diet-related questions

130	Are you school feeding program	1=yes
	beneficiary	2=no
131	How many times do you eat in school per	1=one times
	day?	2=two times
		3=three times
132	How long do you use the program?	1=six month
		2= one year
		3=two years and above
133	Meal frequency in a day?	$1 = \geq 3$
		2= < 3
134	Have you ever missed your meal schedule in	1=yes
	the last two weeks?	2 =no
135	If yes which one you missed?	1=brake fast
		2=lunch
		3=dinner

Part: 6. School performance-related questions

136	The absent number of days in the last semester?	1=<=5 2=>5
137	Have you ever drop out or repeat Class?	1= Yes 2= No
138	If yes how many times?	1=Drop 2=Repeat
139	Academic achievement of a student?	1=good 2=poor

Part 7. Child anthropometric measurements .

Measurements		Measurement 1	Measurement 2	Average measurement	Skip rule
148	Height			In centimeter	
149	Weight			In kilograms	
150	Is there nutritional edema?		1. yes		
				2. no	
151	If yes inc	licate its grade		1. grade one	
			2. grade two		
				3. grade three	

ANNEXES.4የአማርኛመጠይቆች

ክፍል 1-የስነ-ሕዝብባህሪዎችእናአጠቃለይንጥታ

የተማርውመለያ _____የትምሀርትቤቱመለያ------ቀን-----ቀን-----

		የስነሕዝብመጠይቅ	
መጠይ	አቅ	ምላሽ	ዝለል
101.	የልጁዕድሜበዓመት		
102.	የልጁፆታ	1. ወንድ 2. ሴት	
103	የክፍልደረጃ		
104	ስንተኛልጅነህ/ሽ	1= ሁለትኛናበታች 2= ከሁለትበላይ	
105	ከማን <i>ጋ</i> ርትኖራስህ/ሽ	1. ከ እናቴ 2. ከ አባቴ 3. ከ ወንድምእናእህት 99 ሌሳካለይጠቀስ	
106	የአሳዳጊወይም እና <i>ትሥ</i> ራ	1=አርሶአደር 2=መንግስትተቀጣሪ 3=ነ <i>ጋ</i> ደ 4,የቤት እሜበት 99 ሌላካለይጠቀስ	
107	ሐይማኖት	1=መኑስልም 2=ኦርቶዶክስ 3=ካቶልክ	

4=hれ		ኑጅናከዛበላይ		
የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ	1= <i>a</i> p,	ደበ ኛትምህርትአል	ተማሩም	
2=አ		2=አንደኛደረጃ		
	3=0-7	ነተኛደረጃ		
	4=ኮሌ	ጅናከዛበሳይ		
በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳሳአንተንም	1= h	1 እስከ 3		
/ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል	2= h4	4 እስከ 5		
	3= 6	እናበሳይ		
የሕርሻመሬትአላችሁ	1=አወ	トラ		
	2=አይ	•		
2.የቤተሰብየሀብትደረጃንየጣ	ኒ <i>ያ</i> ሳዩጥ,	የቀዎች		
የቤተሰብንብረት		1=አውን	0=አይ	
ራድዮ አሳችሁ?		1	0	
ቴለቪሽን አሳችሁ?		1	0	
የኤለክትርክ ሚጣድ አላችሁ?		1	0	
ሳይክል አሳችሁ?		1	0	
ሞቴር ሳይክል አሳችሁ?		1	0	
<i>.</i> 26 አሳችሁ?		1	0	
የግድግዳ /የእጅሰዓት አሳችሁ?		1	0	
ተንቀሳቃሽ ስልክ አሳችሁ?		1	0	
ሞቨርናቀንበር አላችሁ?		1	0	
ሶፋ አሳችሁ?		1	0	
ፍራሽ አሳችሁ?		1	0	
ወንበር/ጠረጸዛ አሳችሁ?		1	0	
ሸካደር ነላኚበባ				
	የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳሳአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትስውይኖራል የአርሻመሬትአላችሁ 2.የቤተሰብየሀብትደረጃንየማ የቤተሰብንብረት ራድዮ አሳችሁ? ቴለቪሽን አሳችሁ? የአስክትርክ ሚጣድ አሳችሁ? ባይክል አሳችሁ? ምቴር ሳይክል አሳችሁ? ማድማዳ /የእጅስዓት አሳችሁ? ምቨርናቀንበር አሳችሁ? ሶፋ አሳችሁ? ማጠር/ጠረጸዛ አሳችሁ?	4=ħA የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 2=አ7 2=አ7 3=υ·d 4=ħA በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳሳአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትስውይኖራል 2= ħ 3= 6 የአርሻመራትአላችሁ 1=ħa 2=ħg 2=ħg 2=ħg 2.fቤተሰብየሀብትደረጃንየሚያሳዩጥ, fhተሰብንብረት ራድዮ አሳችሁ? ቴለሽሽን አሳችሁ? የኤስክትርክ ሚጣድ አሳችሁ? ሳይክል አሳችሁ? ማድማዳ /የእጅስዓት አላችሁ? ምሽርናቀንበር አሳችሁ? ሶፋ አሳችሁ? ሶፋ አሳችሁ? ምሽርናቀንበር አሳችሁ? ምራሽ አሳችሁ? ምራሽ አሳችሁ? ምሽር/ጠረጸዛ አሳችሁ?	4=ħ&Ĕſħ비Ոላይ የħ٩ት•/ሽ ትምህርት\$ፈጃ 1=∞ՋՈӺትምህርት\$ፈጃ 2=ħ3ደテደረጃ 3=ሡħተテደረጃ 3=ሡħተテደረጃ 4=ħ&Ĕſħ비Ոላይ በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትስውይኖራል 2= h4 ሕስh 3 /ቺምጨምሮስንትስውይኖራል 2= h4 ሕስh 5 3= 6 ሕናበላይ የሕርሻመራትሕላችሁ 1=ħው? 2=Åይ 2.የቤተሰብየሀብትደረጃንየሚያሳዩጥያቀዎች የቤተሰብንብረት 1=ħው? 2=Åይ 2.የቤተሰብየሀብትደረጃንየሚያሳዩጥያቀዎች የቤተሰብንብረት 1=ħው? 2=Åይ 2.የቤተሰብየሀብትደረጃንየሚያሳዩጥያቀዎች የቤተሰብንብረት 1=ħው? 2=Åይ 2.የቤተሰብየሀብትደረጃንየሚያሳዩጥያቀዎች የሴቶሽሽን አሳችሁ? 1 የኤስክትርክ ሚጣድ አሳችሁ? 1 የኤስክትርክ ሚጣድ አሳችሁ? 1 የሥራር ትእጅስዓት አሳችሁ? 1 ምድማዳ /የአጅስዓት አሳችሁ? 1 የሽና አሳችሁ? 1 ምሽርናቀንበር አሳችሁ? 1 ምሽርት አሳችሁ? 1 <	4=ħሌጅናħካበላይ የአባት ህ/ሽ ትምህርት ደረጃ 1=መደበኛ ትምህርት አልተማሩም 2=ħንደኛ ደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ħሌጅናħካበላይ 1 በቤታቸውስጥጠቅሳሳአንተ ንም 1= h1 እስh 3 /ቺምጨምሮስንት ስውይኖራል 2= h4 እስh 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 2= h4 እስh 5 8= 6 እናበላይ 2= h4 እስh 5 9 2=λይ 2 2= h4 እስh 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 2= h4 እስh 5 9 2= h2 2= h2 2= h4 እስh 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 2= h4 እስh 5 9 2= h4 እስh 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 2= h4 እስh 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 2= h2 2.5ቤተሰብየሀብት ደረጃንየሚያሳዩጥያቀዎች 2= h2 2.5ቤተሰብየሀብት ደረጃንየሚያሳዩጥያቀዎች 0 የሌስሽ ነሳ አሳቸ ሆ? 1 0 የሌስሽ ነሳ አሳቸ ሆ? 1 0 የሌስሽ ነሳ አሳቸ ሆ? 1 0 የማ ድሳ አሳቸ ሆ? 1 0 የሌስሽ ሆ? 1 0 የሌስሽ ሁ? 1 0 የትር ሳይክል አሳቸ ሆ? 1 0 የማ ድሳ ሽ ስልክ አሳቸ ሆ?

4=TC ቴ h ታ ን ት 99 ΛΛ hΛ β m hλ 108 የ h Λ β η ω β ም h η ት ሥ ራ 108 የ h Λ β η ω β ም h η ት ሥ ራ 108 የ h Λ β η ω β ም h η ት ሥ ራ 109 1 = h C h h β C 2= m γ η h + + η U 3 = h J β 3 = h J β 4 = የ h A h h h β m h h 109 11% C 1 = J P 2 = h 4 3 = h C P 2 = h 4 3 = h C P 2 = h 4 3 = h C P 2 = h 4 - 110 የ h 5 + h P U C + k L Я 111 የ h 0 + h P U C + k L Я 111 የ h 0 + h P U C + k L Я 111 የ h 0 + h P U C + k L Я 111 የ h 0 + h P U C + k L Я 111 የ h 0 + h P U C + k L Я 111 የ h 0 + h P U C + k L Я 111 የ h 0 + h P U C + k L Я 2 = h 2 + k 8 + h k 8 + h h 8 + h k 8 + h				
99 ሌላካለይጠቀስ 108 የአሳዳጊወይም አባት ሥራ 1=አርሳአደር 2=መንግስት ተቀጣሪ 3=ኪ/2 3=ኪ/2 4=የ ተ ልበት ሥራ ተኛ 99 ሌላካለይጠቀስ 1 109 ብሄር 1=ዾሞ 2=ガ 3=ኢሮሞ 3=ኢሮሞ 4=አማራ 5=オ・アム 3=ኢሮሞ 4=አማራ 5=オ・アム 5=オ・アム 3=ኢሮሞ 4=አማራ 5=オ・アム 5=オ・アム 99 ሌላ ካለ ይጠቀስ			4=ፕሮቴስታንት	
108 የአሳዳጊመይም አባት ሥራ 1=λ C ሰ አ C 2=መን ግስት ተቀጣሪ 3= ካ ጋ ደ 3= ካ ጋ ደ 4= የ ጉ ለበት ሥራ ተኛ 99 ሌ ላካ ለይጠቀስ 1 109 ብሄር 1= ጋሞ 2= ጎፋ. 3= ኦሮሞ 3= ኦሮሞ 4= ስማራ. 5= ት ማሪ. 5= ት ማሪ. 2= አንደኛ ደረጃ 3= υ ስተ ኛ ደረጃ 3= υ ስተ ኛ ደረጃ 3= υ ስተ ኛ ደረጃ 3= υ ስተ ኛ ደረጃ 3= υ ስተ ኛ ደረጃ 3= 5 እናበላይ. 3= 6 እናበላይ. 112 በቤታ ቸው ስ ጥ ጠቅላ ስ አንተ ት ም. /ቸታ ምጨም ርስ ንተ ስ ው ይኖራ. 3= 6 እናበላይ. 113 የእርሻመራት አስ ች ሁ. 1= አይ.			99 ሌሳካለይጠቀስ	
2=መንንስትተቀጣሪ 3=5,2 4=የጉልበትሥራተኛ 99 ሌላካለይጠቀስ 109 ብሄር 110 ብሄር 110 ብሄር 110 የእናትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 110 የእናትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 110 የእናትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 112 በቤታቸውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትስውይኖራል 2= ከ4 እስከ 3 3= 6 እናበላይ 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርሻመራትአላቸው	108	የአሳዳጊወይምአባትሥራ	1=አርሶአደር	
3=カ,2 4=アナ&の1ナルケードデ 99 A <ha< td=""> 109 1%C 1=,2P 2=オ・ 3=ኤC.ም 4=ホማん 5=オ・7ん 99 A 4=ホማん 5=オ・7ん 99 A 4=ホッイ・ 99 A 4=ホッイ・ 110 アトデャレバガ オ・ም・レノナ・タムズ 1=の足のデオ・ም・レノナ・ムムキー 2=ホノボデスとズ 3=レハナデえとズ 3= 6 カテの人を 1=カーア 2=トル 113 アルビアーホーホーホート</ha<>			2=መንግስትተቀጣሪ	
4=?ナふのナルケナギ 109 1%C 109 1%C 109 1%C 2=オ+. 3=ふC ሞ 4=カማん 5=オ・7ん 99 ヘム ካለ ይጠቀስ 110 ?トッテオ・レ/ሽ オッシレンテメンズ 110 ?トッテオ・レ/ሽ オッシレンテメンズ 110 ?トッテオ・レ/ሽ オッシレンテメンズ 110 ?トッテオ・レ/ሽ オッシレンテメンズ 111 ?トッテオ・レ/ሽ オッシレンテメンズ 111 ?トットオ・シング 111 ?トットオ・シング 111 ?トットオ・シング 111 ?トットオ・シング 111 ?トットオ・シング 111 ?トットオ・シング 111 ?トット・シング 111 ?トット・シング 111 ?トット・シング ?トット・シング ?シーシー・シング 2=ホット・シング ?シーシー・シング 2=ホット・シング ?シーシー・シング 2=ホット・シング ?シー・シング 112 パト・ジャー・シー・シー・シー・シー・シー・シー 113 ?トング アン・シー 113 ?トング アン・シー 113 ?トング アン・シー			3=1,2£	
99 ስለካስይጠቀስ			4=የጉልበትሥራተኛ	
109			99 ሌሳካስይጠቀስ	
2=ሳ4. 3=አሮሞ 4=አማራ 5=ትግራ 99 ሴላ ካለ ይጠቀስ 110 የአናትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 110 የአናትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም 113 የአርሻመራትአላችሁ 113 የአርሻመራትአላችሁ	109	ብሄር	1=,29°	
3=አሮም 4=አማራ 5=ት.ማራ 99 ሌላ ካለ ይጠቀስ 110 የአናት.ህ/ሽ ት.ምህር.ት.ደረጃ 110 የአናት.ህ/ሽ ት.ምህር.ት.ደረጃ 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁ.ስ.ተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 111 የአባት.ህ/ሽ ት.ምህር.ት.ደረጃ 112 በሴ.ታ.ቹው.ስጥጠቅላላአንተ.ንም 112 በሴ.ታ.ቹው.ስጥጠቅላላአንተ.ንም 113 የአርሻመራት.አላች.ሁ			2=74·	
4=አማራ 5=ት·ግፌ 99 ሌላ ካለ ይጠቀስ 110 የአናት·ህ/ሽ ትምህርት·ደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርት·አልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሴጅናክዛበላይ 111 የአባት·ህ/ሽ ትምህርት·ደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርት·አልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሴጅናክዛበላይ 111 የአባት·ህ/ሽ ትምህርት·ደረጃ 1=መደበኛት·ምህርት·አልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሴጅናክዛበላይ 112 በቤታ·ቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንት·ሰው·ይኖራል 2= ከ4 እስከ 3 2= h4 እስh 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርሻመራት·አላችሁ 1=አውን 2=አይ			3=ኦሮሞ	
5=ት ግራ 99 ሴላ ካለ ይጠቀስ 110 የአናት ህ/ሽ ትምህርት ደረጃ 1=መደበኛት ምህርት አልተ ማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 1=መደበኛት ምህርት አልተ ማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 111 የአባት ህ/ሽ ትምህርት ደረጃ 111 የአባት ህ/ሽ ትምህርት ደረጃ 111 የአባት ህ/ሽ ትምህርት ደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 3= ትልጅናክዛበላይ 112 በቤታቸውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም /ቸምጨምሮስንት ሰው ይኖራል 2= ከ4 እስከ 3 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርሻመራት አላቸው 1=አይ 2=አይ			4=አማራ	
99 ሌላ ካለ ይጠቀስ			5=や9ん	
110 የአናትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 4=ክሌጅናክዛበላይ 111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 4=ክሌጅናክዛበላይ 111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 4=ክሌጅናክዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም 1= h1 እስከ 3 /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= h4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የአርሻመራትአላችሁ 1=አውን 2=አይ 4			99 ሌሳ ካለ ይጠቀስ	
2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሴጅናከዛበላይ 111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3= 2=ከልጅናከዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= ከ4 እስከ 3 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የአርሻመሬትአላችሁ 1=አይ	110	የሕናትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ	1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተጣሩም	
3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላሳአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= h4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የአርሻመራትአላችሁ 1=አይ			2=አንደኛደረጃ	
4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁለተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= h4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርሻመራትአላችሁ 2=አይ			3=ሁስተኛደረጃ	
111 የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ 1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም 2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳላአንተንም 1= ከ1 እስከ 3 /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= ከ4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 3= 6 እናበላይ			4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ	
2=አንደኛደረጃ 3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳሳአንተንም 1= ከ1 እስከ 3 /ቺምጨምሮስንተሰውይኖራል 2= ከ4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርሻመራተአሳችሁ 1=አውን 2=አይ	111	የአባትህ/ሽ ትምህርትደረጃ	1=መደበኛትምህርትአልተማሩም	
3=ሁስተኛደረጃ 4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳላአንተንም /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= h4 እስከ 3 2= h4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርኻመሬትአላችሁ 1=አይ			2=አንደናደረጃ	
4=ኦሌጅናክዛበላይ 112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅላላአንተንም 1= h1 እስከ 3 /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= h4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርሻመራትአላችሁ 2=አይ			3=ሁስተኛደረጃ	
112 በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳሳአንተንም 1= h1 እስከ 3 /ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= h4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበሳይ 3= 6 እናበሳይ 113 የእርሻመሬትአላችሁ 1=አውን 2=አይ 2			4=ኮሌጅናከዛበላይ	
/ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል 2= h4 እስከ 5 3= 6 እናበላይ 113 የእርሻመራትአላችሁ 1=አውን 2=አይ	112	በቤታቹውስጥጠቅሳሳአንተንም	1= h1 እስh 3	
3= 6 እናበሳይ 113 የእርሻመሬትአላችሁ 1=አውን 2=አይ 1		/ቺምጨምሮስንትሰውይኖራል	2= h4 እስከ 5	
113 የእርሻመሬትአሳችሁ 1=አውን 2=አይ			3= 6 እናበሳይ	
2=አይ	113	የሕርሻመሬትአላችሁ	1=አውን	
			2=አይ	

Ν	<i>የድንጋ</i> ይወፍጮ አሳችሁ?	1	0	
0	በሬ አሳችሁ?	1	0	
Р	ሳም አሳችሁ?	1	0	
Q	ፈረስ/በቁሎ አሳ ችሁ?	1	0	
R	ፍየል/በግ አሳችሁ?	1	0	
S	ዶሮ አሳችሁ?	1	0	
Т	አህይ አሳችሁ?	1	0	

ክፍል 3. ውሀ፣ጽዳት እና ንፅህና ተያያዥ ጥያቄዎች

115	ሽንት ቤት አላችሁ?	1=አው 2=የለም
116	ካሌ ምን ዓይነት ነው?	1=ንድንድ 2=የተሸሻሌ አየር ማስገቢያያለው 3=መቀመጫ ያለው 4 =ሌሳ ካሌ ይጠቀስ
117	ደረቅ ቆሻሻን እንደት ታስወግዳሳችሁ ?	1=ንድንድ 2=በማቃጠል 3=መዳ ላይ በመበተን 4=ቆሻሻ መጣያን በመጠቀም
118	የመጠጥ ውሀ ምንጭ የት ነው?	1=የቧንቧውሃ 2=የተጠበቀምንጭ 3=ያልተጠበቀምንጭ 4=የወንዝ
119	የውሀውን ንጽህና ለመጠበቅ ዘደ ትጠቀማላችሁ ?	1=አውን 2=አይ
120	የተኛውንዝኤትጠቀማሳችሁ?	1=ማፍላት 2=ክሎርንን መጨመር 3= በጨርቅማጥሰል
121	የእጅ መታጠቢያ አሳችሁ?	1=አውን 2=የለም
122	ምግብከመመገብበፍት ሕጅየመታጠብ ልምድአለህ/ሽ?	1. አውን 2. አይ
123	ከሽንትቤትመልስ እጅየመታጠብልም ድአለህ/ሽ?	1. አውን 2. አይ

	124	ፍራፍረን ከመመገብህ/ሽ የጣጠብ ልምድ አለህ/ሽ ?	በፍት	1. አውን 2. አይ	
--	-----	------------------------------------	-----	-----------------	--

ፍል 4. ከህመም *ጋ*ርየተዛመዱጥያቄዎች

125	ባለፋት ሁለት ሳምንታት ውስጥ ታመህ/ሽ ነበር	1. አውን 2. አይ
126	ታመህ/ሽ ከሆነ ምን አይነት በሽታ	1. ተቅማጥ 2. ወባ 3. የሆድ ትላትል 4. ሌላካ ይጠቀስ
127	በባለፋት ስድስት ወራት ውስጥ የሆድ ትላትል መድሃንት ወስደህ /ሽ ነበር	1=አውን 2=አይ
128	ክዚህ በፊት የሳንባ ነቀርሳ በሽታ ህመም አለህ?	1=አውን 2=አይ

ክፍል 5. ከአመ*ጋ*ገብ *ጋ*ር የተዛመዱ ጥያቄዎች

129	የትምህርት ቤት ምንባ ተጠቃም	1=አውን
	ነወ/ሽ?	2=አይ
130	ተጠቃሚ ከሆንክ/ሽ በቀን ስንተ	1=አንድ ጊዜ
	<i>ትመገ</i> ባሳችሁ <i>ት/</i> ቤት ውስጥ?	2=ሁለት ጊዜ
		3=ሶስት ጊዜ
131	ስምንይህልጊዜተጠቅመዛል/ሻል?	1=ስድስት ወር
		2= ስ አንድ ዓመት
		3=ሁለት ዓመት ና በላይ
132	በቀን ውስጥ ምግብ ስንቴ	1= ሶስትና በሳይ
	ት፡መገባስህ/ሽ?	2= ከሶስት በታች
133	በባለፋት ሁለት ሳምንታት ውስጥ	1=አውን
	ምግብ ሳትበላ ያለፌክበት ሰዓት አለ?	2 =የስም
134	ካሌ የተኛውን ዘለልክ?	1=ቁርስ
		2= ም ሳ
		3=እራት

ክፍል6. የትምህርት ቤት አፈፃፀም *ጋ*ር የተያያዙ ጥያቄዎች

135	በባለፈው ስምስቴር የቀር ቀን ብዛት?	1=አምስትናበታች 2= ስድስትናበላይ
136	አቃረጠ ወይም ወድቀ ታቃስህ/ሽ?	1=አውን 2= አይ
137	አውን ከሆነ ስንት ጊዜ?	1=አቋረጥክ/ሽ 2=ደ <i>ገም</i> ክ/ሽ
138	የሴምስቴር አማካይ ውጤት	1=ክፍተኛ>50 2=ዝቅተኛ<50

ክፍል 7.የልጆች የሴውነት ልኬቶች

የሰውነት ልከት መረጃ						
139	ቁሜት	1 ኖ	2 ኛ	አማካይልከትበሴ. <i>ሜ</i>		
		ዙርልክት	ዙርልክት			
140	ክብደት					
141	የሰውነትአብጠት	1,አስ				
		2, የስም				
142	እብጠ ት ካ ስ	1,አንደኖደሬጃ				
		3.ሶስተኛ ደረጃ				

DECLARATION

I, the undersigned, declare that this thesis is my original work, has not been presented for a degree in this or any other university, and that all sources of materials used for the thesis have been fully acknowledged.

Name: Abrachew Datiko

Signature: _____

Name of the institution: JIMMA UNIVERSITY

Date of submission:

This thesis has been submitted for examination with my approval as University advisor

Name and Signature of the first advisor

Mrs. MESERET TAMRAT

signature_____

Date: _____

Name and Signature of the second advisor

Mr. NUREZEMAN GALI

signature _____

Date: _____